Domestic Violence

A Guide to the Legal Rights of Domestic Violence Victims in New Jersey

Written and Published by Legal Services of New Jersey



The New Jersey Legal Services Programs

State Coordinating Program

Legal Services of New Jersey 100 Metroplex Drive, Suite 101 P.O. Box 1357 Edison, NJ 08818-1357 732-572-9100 LSNJLAW SM statewide, toll-free legal Hotline: 1-888-LSNJ-LAW (1-888-576-5529)

Regional Legal Services Programs

Central Jersey Legal Services	
Mercer County	609-695-6249
Middlesex County	732-249-7600
Union County	908-354-4340
Essex-Newark Legal Services	973-624-4500
Legal Services of Northwest Jersey	
Hunterdon County	908-782-7979
Morris County	973-285-6911
Somerset County	908-231-0840
Sussex County	973-383-7400
Warren County	908-475-2010
Northeast New Jersey Legal Services	
Bergen County	201-487-2166
Hudson County	201-792-6363
Passaic County	973-523-2900
South Jersey Legal Services	
Centralized Intake for SJLS	800-496-4570
Atlantic County	609-348-4200
Burlington County	609-261-1088
Camden County	856-964-2010
Cape May County	609-465-3001
Cumberland County	856-691-0494
Gloucester County	856-848-5360
Monmouth County	732-414-6750
Ocean County	732-608-7794
Salem County	856-691-0494

Domestic Violence

A Guide to the Legal Rights of Domestic Violence Victims in New Jersey

Written and Published by Legal Services of New Jersey





Copyright © 2024 Legal Services of New Jersey

Legal Services of New Jersey makes this publication available for use by people who cannot afford legal advice or representation. It may not be sold or used commercially by others. You may copy this publication for personal or educational use only. Copies may not be modified and must retain the information identifying Legal Services of New Jersey and the date the materials were produced.

For further information, contact: Legal Services of New Jersey, P.O. Box 1357, Edison, NJ 08818-1357 www.LSNJ.org / www.LSNJLAW.org Email: publications@LSNJ.org

Table of Contents

Preface	7
Acknowledgments	
A word of caution about using this handbook	7
Introduction	
Getting Legal Help	12
1. Safety Measures	14
Planning Ahead for an Emergency	14
Using Hotlines	
Calling the Police	16
Getting Medical Attention	
Getting Out—Finding Housing	
Keeping Your Location Confidential	
Technology and Domestic Violence—Stay Safe Online	
Additional Technology Resources	29
2. Overview of the Legal System	30
Introduction to the Legal System	
Using Civil Law—the Prevention of Domestic Violence Ac	
How Can I Get a Temporary Restraining Order (TRO)?	
How Can I Get a TRO Changed to a Final Restraining C	
What Should I Do Before Court?	
What Happens in Court?	
How Can a Final Restraining Order Help Me?	
What About Filing Criminal Charges?	
Should I Get Legal Advice?	
What Should I Do If the Abuser Violates the TRO or FRO	?50
Further Legal Options	53
3. Immigration Relief	
Legal Residency Through VAWA	
Battered Spouse Waiver	
U Visa	
T Visa	59

4.	Employment Rights	60
	Unemployment	
	New Jersey Safety and Financial Empowerment Act	
5.	Public Assistance	64
	Welfare	64
	Emergency Assistance (EA)	65
	SNAP (Food Stamps)	66
6.	Counseling	68
	Counseling for Yourself	68
	Counseling for Your Children	68
	Counseling for Batterers	69
	Marriage or Couples Counseling	70
	Counseling for Alcohol and Drug Abuse	71
7.	Child Welfare	73
	What Is DCPP?	73
	What if I Am the Subject of a Report?	73
	How Does Domestic Violence Relate to Child Welfare?	75
	What Will DCPP Do if They Become Involved?	76
	What Will Happen After the Investigation?	76
8.	Housing	78
	NJ Safe Housing Act	78
	Housing Protections Through VAWA	80
Co	onclusion	84
Aŗ	opendix	85
	Other Resources	85

Preface

Since 1966, Legal Services of New Jersey (LSNJ) has coordinated the statewide Legal Services system in New Jersey, providing free legal assistance to low-income people in civil matters. Part of Legal Services' mission is to make people more aware of their legal rights. Awareness allows people to resolve some problems on their own, without the need for lawyers. Informed people also are able to make better use of lawyers when necessary.

A word of caution about using this handbook

This handbook does not give advice about a particular legal problem that you may have, and it is not a substitute for seeing a lawyer when you need one. Talk to a lawyer if you think you need the help.

The information in this handbook is accurate as of April 2024, but laws often change. Please check our website, **www.lsnjlaw. org**, for updates to this handbook, or talk to a lawyer for up-todate legal advice.

Acknowledgments

The first edition of this handbook was written by Donna Hildreth and published by LSNJ in 1986. The revisions for this edition have been drafted by Shoshana Gross, Monica C. Gural, Troy C. Torres, Jonnelle Casey, and Sylvia L. Thomas, attorneys with LSNJ.

This handbook is available in English and Spanish on our website, www.lsnjlaw.org. Contact publications@lsnj.org for information on getting printed copies. Thanks to Al Moreno and Lina Tocora of LSNJ's Language Services Unit and consultant Olga Torner for the Spanish translation of this handbook. Special thanks also to everyone at LSNJ whose contributions made this handbook possible: Attorneys Linda Babecki, Sarah Hymowitz, Raquiba Huq, and Maura Sanders; Outreach Coordinator Alayna Berg; Writer/Editor Li-Anne Wright; and Chief Content Officer Tricia Simpson-Curtin.

> Dawn K. Miller, President Legal Services of New Jersey Edison, New Jersey April 2024



Introduction

omestic violence is a frequently committed crime. The FBI estimates that a woman is abused every 15 seconds in the United States. The FBI also estimates that 2 million (others say possibly 6 million) women in the United States are abused annually. Some researchers believe that violence will occur in at least two-thirds. of all marriages and that perhaps as many as 50% of women are subjected to domestic violence at some time in their lives. The Surgeon General of the United States found that domestic violence is the "single largest cause of injury to women." No one knows precisely how often domestic violence occurs, or how many people are affected. That information is scattered among divorce statistics, medical reports, school records, and police and government documents, many not publicly or easily accessible. Some domestic violence victims do not tell anyone about the abuse they suffer. It is clear that domestic violence is common, and that it is a serious problem with tremendous social and economic costs and tragic consequences.

This handbook reviews the New Jersey Prevention of Domestic Violence Act. It suggests some of the measures you can take to protect yourself from abuse, including getting a restraining order to keep the abuser away. In addition to using the protection offered by the domestic violence law, you may have to use other services and means to ensure your safety and peace of mind. You understand better than anyone how dangerous your situation is, and you must decide the best way to ensure your safety. Legal remedies and social services are available regardless of the gender of the abuser or the victim. The Prevention of Domestic Violence Act applies to everyone regardless of gender, including people in same-sex relationships.

Before 1981, New Jersey had no specific law protecting victims of domestic violence. In 1981, when the New Jersey Legislature passed the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act, it recognized that domestic violence is a serious crime affecting all of society and that it could no longer be ignored, excused, or tolerated. The Prevention of Domestic Violence Act has been amended many times to strengthen the protection offered to victims.

In 1996, Congress passed the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA), a national law addressing the problem of domestic violence and sexual assault. VAWA has a number of important and helpful provisions. For example, VAWA requires all states to enforce valid restraining orders from other states, allowing victims to keep their protective orders when they relocate. VAWA is an important first step in creating a comprehensive, nationwide response system to deal with domestic violence.

In New Jersey, there are two primary legal options to gain protection from abuse:

- One option is to use the civil justice system and family court to get a restraining order under the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act. A restraining order is a court order that will attempt to control the abuser's behavior by forbidding them to enter your home or to contact you in any way. A restraining order can also contain provisions regarding child custody, child support, parenting time, and support for you, among other things. You can find information about getting a restraining order on page 31.
- The second option is to charge the abuser with a crime, such as assault, and go through the criminal justice system. An abuser who is found guilty of the crime can be sentenced to jail or probation, and/or ordered to pay a fine. You can find information about the criminal law system on page 30.

Domestic violence includes, but is not limited to, physical and sexual abuse. Domestic violence also includes actions that, while not yet physical, put you at risk or in fear. The following are some examples of common forms of abuse that, depending on the circumstances, may be domestic violence:

- Threatening to hurt or kill you or a member of your family.
- Threatening you to prevent you from leaving.
- Physically keeping you from leaving by doing such things as blocking a doorway, taking your car keys, or disabling your car.
- Forcing you to go somewhere against your will.
- Harming a pet or threatening to harm a pet.
- Purposely or repeatedly following or stalking you by doing things such as staking out your home or place of employment, or using a GPS device to monitor your movements.
- Coming to your home after being told not to do so.
- Purposely or recklessly damaging your property or possessions by doing such things as punching holes in the walls, ripping up personal journals, tearing your clothing, or throwing items.
- Purposely and repeatedly annoying or alarming you by making hang-up calls, calling your home or place of employment, or deliberately preventing you from sleeping.
- Trying to control your daily activities, such as where you go, what you do, or who your friends are.

Under New Jersey's domestic violence law, you may be able to get a restraining order if you were abused by your spouse, former spouse, dating partner, a person with whom you share a child, or someone who you live with now or lived with in the past. You cannot file a temporary restraining order against someone under 18 unless they have been married, parented a child, entered the military, or were declared emancipated by a court. If a minor has committed a crime, that should be reported to your local police station. For most victims, trying to leave an abusive partner involves risk, including the risk of being seriously injured. Those who stay can face increased abuse, which is one reason thousands decide to leave abusive partners and start new lives. Because leaving an abusive partner can be dangerous, it requires careful thought and planning for safety measures, in addition to getting legal help. See page 82 for a list of domestic violence service providers who can help you with safety planning.

This handbook touches on the most basic elements of the law and the services you may be able to receive. In addition to explaining your legal options, this handbook highlights some of the support services available in New Jersey and explains how you can get more information about those services. At the end of the handbook, you will find the current addresses and phone numbers of shelters and other agencies that provide services or information to domestic violence victims and their families.

Getting Legal Help

If you need the advice of a lawyer but cannot afford one, you may be eligible for Legal Services. Contact the regional Legal Services program that serves your county. See the inside front cover of this handbook for a list of New Jersey programs and telephone numbers. You also can find a list of programs, addresses, telephone numbers, and office directions by clicking on *Get Legal Help* on our website, **www.** *Isnjlaw.org*.

You may also contact LSNJ's statewide, toll-free legal hotline, LSNJLAWSM, at 1-888-LSNJ-LAW (1-888-576-5529) or apply online for legal help at **www.lsnjlawhotline.org**. The hotline provides information, advice, and referrals to low-income New Jersey residents who have civil legal problems. This service is provided at no charge to applicants who are financially eligible.

LSNJ's Domestic Violence Representation Project (DVRP) provides representation and legal advice to eligible domestic violence victims, free of charge. Call LSNJ's statewide legal hotline at 1-888-LSNJ-LAW (1-888-576-5529) to find out if you are eligible for help from the DVRP. Help for immigrants who are battered may be available through LSNJ's Immigration Representation Project (IRP). You can reach the IRP through LSNJ's hotline at 1-888-LSNJ-LAW (1-888-576-5529).

LSNJ's website, **www.lsnjlaw.org**, provides legal information, publications, forms, resource directories, benefits calculators, and more.

If you do not qualify for Legal Services, contact your local lawyer referral service. You can get the telephone number for the lawyer referral service in your area by contacting your county bar association or by accessing the New Jersey State Bar Association's website at *Isnj.pub/ NJSBA-lawyer-referral*.



1. Safety Measures

Planning Ahead for an Emergency

You may wish to develop a safety plan with the goal of reducing the risk to yourself and your children. Safety plans seek to reduce the immediate risks of physical violence and injury but also include strategies to maintain your freedom from violence. Each plan will vary, depending on whether you are separated from the abuser, plan to leave, or decide to stay, as well as what resources are available to you.

If you are still living with the abuser, some safety steps to consider are the following:

- Plan how you will get out of the house safely in an emergency. Which door will you use? Can you climb out windows? Is there a fire escape? Where will you go once you are out of the house? What if you cannot go there?
- Pack clothes for yourself and your children, and a list of addresses and telephone numbers of relatives and close friends who may be able to help you. Keep the suitcase in the home of a friend or neighbor, or hide it in your home or car where you can get to it easily.
- Have an extra set of keys to your home and car. Keep these hidden in your suitcase.
- Teach your children how to use the phone to reach the police or fire department.

- Collect and save evidence (such as names and addresses of witnesses, pictures of your injuries, and police and medical reports).
 Do not keep these items in the home if it is not safe. Keep them with a friend, trusted third party, or store them safely in a separate location.
- Develop a code word that you can use with your children or a friend so they can call for help when you cannot.
- Take extra cash, checkbooks, credit cards, and any other special valuables with you, if you leave.
- Take something comforting with you for the children, such as a favorite toy or book, if you leave.
- If possible, try to take legal documents such as identification, birth certificates, Social Security card, driver's license, marriage certificate, restraining order, passports, immigration documents, documentation of car ownership, medication, court papers, and other legal documents. Keep these where you can get to them easily and quickly. You may need these documents for a number of reasons, and replacing them can be time-consuming and sometimes costly. If you cannot take the original document with you, and it is safe for you to do so, you should make copies of these documents. Consider storing copies with a trusted person or in a secure location.
- Call a domestic violence hotline for help with your plan and any problems that arise.

If you are not living with the abuser, some safety steps to consider are the following:

- If you get a restraining order, consider giving a copy to the following people: your children's school, early childhood education center, or babysitter; a neighbor or nearby relative; and someone where you live and work, such as a security guard.
- Keep a copy of your restraining order with you at all times, including a copy on your phone.

- If you remain in the home, try to change the locks, get a security system, and/or put in bright or motion-sensitive lights outside.
- If the abuser still has legal rights to the home, they may return and you could be required to provide a copy of the new key.
- Get someone at work to screen your calls on the job if you can.
- Take advantage of services offered by domestic violence service providers listed on page 82.

Strategies to stay safe and independent from the abuser might include securing your own income, housing, health care, food, child care, and education for the children.

Using Hotlines

Hotlines are excellent resources. Most hotlines are staffed 24 hours a day. The staff is trained to deal with people in crisis and are required to keep your information confidential. By discussing your problem with someone independent and unbiased, you may be able to see the solution to your problem more clearly. In any event, you will have a chance to talk through your problem and discuss some of your options so that you will be prepared for whatever steps you decide to take. Staff members can provide you with information and referrals. You can find a list of hotline numbers in the appendix on page 85.

Calling the Police

When domestic violence occurs, you may want to call the police. For emergencies, call 911 or your local police. Tell the police dispatcher your location, what has happened, and stress the emergent nature of your situation. Be sure to tell the police whether anyone is injured or armed and, if so, where the weapons are located. Once the police arrive, ask to talk to the officers alone so that you can speak freely about what happened and what legal options are available to you.

You can ask the police to help you get a temporary restraining order (TRO) right away. (A TRO is a temporary court order that may

provide several forms of relief. See page 31 for more information about TROs.) It is hard to make decisions about your life and the lives of your children when you are living in fear. A TRO may be helpful because you will have some time to be free of fear, allowing you to think through your plans.

You can apply for a temporary restraining order in person or by phone between 8:30 a.m. and 3:30 p.m. at the Superior Court, Family Division, in your county. Many courts stop taking domestic violence complaints at 3:30 p.m. This may vary, however, depending on the county. Call ahead to your Family Court to find out what time they stop accepting complaints. The police can help you get a TRO through the municipal court at any hour and on weekends, holidays, and other times when the courts are closed. A police officer can help you get in touch with a municipal court judge.

The police will provide you with a victim notification form, written in English and Spanish, telling you about your rights under the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act. If your primary language is something other than English or Spanish, you should request an interpreter to make sure you understand your rights. They will explain the notice to you if you do not understand it. A restraining order can:

- Temporarily forbid the abuser from entering your home, even if it is not rented or titled in your name.
- Temporarily forbid the abuser from having any contact with you, your relatives, or anyone else you request.
- Provide for the seizure of any weapons the abuser has.
- Allow you to use the family car, even if it is not in your name.
- Temporarily forbid the abuser from going to your job.
- Require the abuser to pay temporary child support or support for you.
- Grant you temporary custody of your children.
- Require the abuser to pay you back any money you spend for medical treatment or repairs because of the violence.

There also are other things the court may order. The court staff or police will explain the procedure to you and help you fill out the papers for a TRO. For more information on restraining orders, see page 31.

You also have the right to file a criminal complaint against the abuser in addition to obtaining a restraining order. A police officer can tell you how to file a criminal complaint.

You should know that, although the law requires the police to make an arrest in some situations, the police may not arrest the abuser in every situation. The law requires an officer to make an arrest when the victim shows signs of injury, when a weapon is involved or its use is threatened, or when the abuser has violated the terms of a restraining order. The law gives an officer the choice about an arrest if the victim does not show signs of injury but there is a good reason for the officer to believe an act of domestic violence has been committed. For more information on filing a criminal complaint, see page 47.

You might ask the police to help you call relatives or a local domestic violence shelter if they are not going to arrest the abuser and you do not feel safe staying in your home with the abuser after the police leave. You can also ask the police for transportation to a safe place or to court to get a restraining order.

Ask the officers for their names and badge numbers. Write this information down. You may need this information when you go to court, particularly if you need to call the police officers as your witnesses.

Getting Medical Attention

Many people are understandably depressed and confused after being abused. They often feel ashamed about what happened or have been threatened, so some people are scared to seek medical help. However, it is important to see a doctor because injuries can be severe even though they do not appear so. This is especially true of internal injuries. A pregnant woman who was abused should see her obstetrician immediately.

Whether you choose to get care at an emergency room or from a private physician, it is important that you receive treatment. Give the

doctor a detailed description of what happened. Tell the doctor what parts of your body experienced the physical abuse. Be very specific about exactly where you were hit or hurt. This includes strangulation and direct, strong hits to the head, stomach, or chest, which can create internal injuries. You may request that the doctor write down your injuries and insist that your visit remain confidential. You also have the right to speak with the doctor alone; this means the abuser should leave the immediate area and not be allowed to stand immediately outside the curtain.

If the doctor you see is not your personal physician, be sure to give them some medical history. Tell the doctor about any allergies you have. If the doctor prescribes medication, be sure that you understand what the medication is and what the side effects may be. If you are going to a hospital emergency room, you may want to ask a friend or relative to go with you for emotional support. Emergency rooms are usually hectic, and you may have to wait a long time before being examined.

Ask about other services available in the hospital or in the community that may be of help to you. The hospital may have a nurse or social worker who works with domestic violence victims. Hospital personnel may also be able to refer you to a domestic violence program to get information about emergency shelters, counseling, and emotional support. You may be able to get a restraining order at the hospital.

If you have been sexually assaulted, you should get medical attention immediately and take steps to preserve the evidence of the sexual assault. Many of the steps you should take to preserve evidence are likely to be difficult for you, but the evidence will be important in getting a final restraining order or getting the abuser convicted if you decide that you want to press criminal charges against them. You may wish to call a friend or relative to be with you as you go through some difficult procedures.

The following information will allow you to gather the most evidence after a sexual assault so you can have the injuries treated and preserve evidence that will be helpful should you decide to file a restraining order or criminal charges.

- You should get medical attention as soon as you can, preferably at an emergency room. If at all possible, before seeking medical attention, you should not shower, bathe, wash, douche, change clothes, eat, drink, smoke, or urinate. Ask the treating physician to conduct a rape kit.
- You should not throw away the clothes you were wearing or any other item involved in the sexual assault.
- You may also ask to speak with a rape crisis counselor at the hospital.

Hospital personnel may try to convince you to speak with the police right away. You do not have to do this. If you are pressured to file a police report, know that it is up to you to make this decision when you are ready. If you are undecided, you can just tell them that, at the moment, all you want to do is to preserve the evidence so it will be available if you decide to press charges.

Getting Out—Finding Housing

Emergency housing—shelters. The only way some people can ensure their safety is by leaving home to stay with friends or relatives, or by staying in a domestic violence shelter. If you have children, you may take them with you when you leave. All counties offer free emergency shelter for victims of domestic violence. A list of agencies providing shelter can be found on the New Jersey Coalition to End Domestic Violence website at **www.NJCEDV.org**. Domestic violence shelters keep their locations confidential so that residents will be safe from pursuit by the abuser. Often, arrangements can be made with shelter staff to pick you up from a safe place (the police station, for example) and transport you to the nearest shelter. Many shelters are open 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

Shelter staff conduct counseling sessions and provide other support services for residents. Some people stay in shelters for one night; others may stay longer. The shelter usually provides a group living situation where people share cooking and cleaning chores. Playgroups and other supervised activities are often available for children. Arrangements with local school systems permit children to enroll in school for short periods of time so they will not miss classes during the shelter stay. If your local shelter is full, they may refer you to another shelter outside of your county. If you do not want to stay at a shelter, consider staying with family members or friends.

Remember to safeguard knowledge of your location if you fear the abuser will follow you and try to hurt you or the people with whom you are staying. If you cannot think of someone who will help, try contacting a church or civic leader. They can sometimes arrange for emergency housing.

Even if you do not stay in the shelter, ask the staff about their support services. A domestic violence service worker or a peer support group can help you make difficult and important decisions.

Permanent housing. Once at the shelter or other emergency housing, you will probably begin to think about finding permanent housing. You may decide to stay in your own home by getting a restraining order against the abuser from the Family Court under the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act (see page 31).

On the other hand, you may decide to look for a new place to live if you feel that you would not be safe in your home. Your new home might be in the same city or community, or in an entirely new city or state. If you want to leave the state with the children you have with the abuser, you should first get the other parent's permission or an order from the court. Without that, the abuser could report the children missing, claim that you kidnapped them, or try to have you arrested for interfering with the abuser's right to see the children. There are ways to protect yourself against the abuser's claims and to prevent yourself from getting arrested for taking your children to another state. (See *Relocation and removing the children from New Jersey* on page 54.) If you are moving within the state of New Jersey, you do not need permission.

You may have trouble finding well-maintained, affordable housing. The Internet and your local domestic violence agency can provide some information, but you should also ask friends if they know of any vacancies in the area. You can call the rental offices of large apartment complexes to ask about vacancies or to be put on a waiting list. Avoid the use of finders' services such as home locators or home seekers where you are charged a fee for a list of places. Such services often are not helpful. This is different from hiring a realtor to assist you, though realtors do charge a fee.

If you receive welfare, your caseworker may be able to supply you with a list of local landlords. Your county welfare office may have a housing unit that can help you find housing. You may also be eligible for temporary rental assistance, which will help you to pay your rent. (See *Public Assistance* on page 64.)

If you find a place and are offered a written lease to sign, be sure to read the lease carefully. If possible, have the lease reviewed by a lawyer before you sign it so that all of the legal language is explained to you. Never sign a document you did not read or do not understand.

You may be eligible for a federally subsidized Section 8 house or apartment. Getting a Section 8 grant would mean that you could rent a place suitable for yourself and your children and the federal government would pay a portion of your rent. You can find a listing of public housing authorities by county on the federal government's Housing and Urban Development (HUD) website at **www.hud.gov/states/ new_jersey/renting/hawebsites**.

It is illegal for a landlord to refuse to rent an apartment to you because of the source of your income, such as welfare, a Section 8 grant, or child support. (**Note**: This law does not apply to owner-occupied, two-unit dwellings.) Also, it is illegal for a landlord to refuse to rent to you because you have children. (**Note**: This law does not apply to senior citizen housing.)

Keeping Your Location Confidential

The New Jersey Address Confidentiality Program is available if you are a victim of domestic violence and move to a new address that you wish to conceal from your abuser. You may apply to use this substitute address (a post office box) to keep your actual address private. The program allows victims of domestic violence to apply for a designated address that only the Division on Women and its employees will know. When the state receives mail for you, the mail will be forwarded to you at your actual address. The program allows you to use the designated address when applying for any type of public assistance, such as welfare or unemployment. You can also request that any state or local agencies through which you already receive assistance use the designated address. The agency must accept the designated address unless it can show the program that your actual address is necessary and required by law.

To qualify for the Address Confidentiality Program, you must give a sworn, written statement that you are a victim of domestic violence and that you fear further violent acts from the abuser. You must have reported domestic violence to a law enforcement agency or a court. There is no requirement that you must have reported the incident immediately after it occurred. You may still report the incident when you decide to apply for the program. You do not need a restraining order to participate in the program.

Your statement must provide the work and home address(es) you wish to keep confidential. You must also give the name of a contact person with whom the program can leave a message for you.

When you participate in the program, you cannot reveal your actual address to others and must use your designated address for all purposes. Give your designated address to the New Jersey Motor Vehicle Commission, the welfare office, or any other government agencies. If you share children with the abuser, a court may require you to reveal the location where the children are living.

To get an application, contact the Address Confidentiality Program, toll-free, at 1-877-218-9133, or write to:

Address Confidentiality Program P.O. Box 207 Trenton, NJ 08602-0207 You can also speak to your local domestic violence agency about enrollment. Once you have become a program participant, you are automatically enrolled for four years. After four years, you can reapply for participation, and you can cancel your participation at any time.

Other steps you can take to keep your location secret:

- Inform all agencies you contact, such as the welfare office, that you wish your records to be kept confidential and that no information is to be released without your written consent.
- If you transfer your child's school records, you will need the cooperation of both schools in keeping the name and address of the new school confidential.
- When you register to vote, show the copy of your address confidentiality program card to the clerk and ask that your address be kept confidential.
- If you are starting a divorce through a lawyer, tell your lawyer not to publish your address in the divorce proceedings or release your address to your spouse or your spouse's attorney.
- You may file court papers asking to change your name and/or your Social Security number if you feel that it is necessary for your safety.

Technology and Domestic Violence—Stay Safe Online

Acts of domestic violence can be committed online as well as in person. For your safety, protect your computer and your personal information. Remember, cyber-harassment is a crime of domestic violence. See **pages 32-33** for the definition.

Protect your computer

- Install reputable antivirus/security/firewall software and keep it upto-date.
 - o At a minimum, use the firewall/security software that is installed on a new computer.

- o In addition, there are many free antivirus software products available. Just be cautious that you are dealing with a reputable company. Criminals have tried to trick people into installing software claiming to be security software that will actually steal your information.
- Do not open emails or attachments you were not expecting—especially if they are from addresses you do not recognize.

Protect your online accounts

- Do not use identifying information (like your name or birthday) as part of your username. It is safer to use a gender-neutral username since most victims are female. Do not use the same username for all online accounts.
- Change your password every three months (more frequently if you are aware the abuser is attempting to access your accounts). Make sure any password you choose is not something the abuser is likely to guess.
- Before you log in to your online account, check the address bar to make sure it has "https" in front (example: https://www.facebook. com). If not, the website is not secure, and anyone can easily record your login information.
- Always log out and do not let your browser store your passwords for you, so that someone with access to your computer will not be able to access any sites you have visited.
- Only accept friend requests from people you know and trust.
- Turn on your chat and email logs so all messages you send and receive will be saved in case you need documentation of the stalking or harassing incidents.
- When creating a new account and answering the security questions, you can choose to answer those questions as if you are someone else (for example, your favorite literary or movie character) to make it less likely the abuser will be able to access your account.

Protect your private information

- Check and heighten your privacy settings.
- You have the right to maintain a social media presence; however, be cautious of posting information or photographs that reveal your location or activities. If you are posting from a mobile device, make sure your device's GPS function is not posting your location.
- Be cautious about publicly RSVPing to events online and joining online groups or pages because this information could be found on public online pages.
- Avoid posting or emailing personal and financial information. Also, just because a post or photo has been deleted (even on Snapchat), it does not mean that the information is completely erased. Someone could have saved your information without your knowledge.
- Search the web to see what is on the Internet about you. Start by searching your name in Google, social media websites, and websites for groups you are affiliated with (e.g. school, community, church). Delete any information that may be dangerous if it gets into the hands of an abuser, or contact the website administrator to remove that information.
- To protect your browsing activity, use the browser's private mode or clear your browser's history. Most web browsers DO NOT launch in private/incognito mode (e.g., Google Chrome, Apple Safari, Microsoft Edge). A quick internet search can instruct you how to set your browser to always launch in private mode. Alternatively, you can use browsers that are in private mode by default (e.g., Duck Duck Go).

Options if an intimate photo of you has been posted on-

line. This is sometimes called revenge porn, involuntary porn, image exploitation, or the nonconsensual sharing of intimate images. In New Jersey, sharing intimate photos of somebody without the person's permission is harassment and cyber-harassment, and you may be able to get a restraining order. Also, taking or sharing intimate images of private

parts of the body and/or sexual acts without the person's permission is an illegal invasion of privacy. This means anyone who takes intimate photos or videos of you without your permission has committed a crime. It also means nobody can share intimate images without your permission, even if you gave somebody permission to take them or took them yourself. You can report that to the police.

You do not need to have a special relationship with the person who posted your photo in order to press charges. Also, you can press charges even if you do not have proof that your ex-partner is the person who posted your photo. (For example, you may know your ex-partner is the only one you shared photos with, but your ex may have posted them online with an anonymous username.) This crime is called invasion of privacy.

Copyrights are relevant to revenge porn because having copyright ownership of your photos makes it easier to have them taken down. A copyright is legal proof that you are authorized to use and share items like photos, drawings, and other creative materials. Normally, the person who takes a photo is the copyright owner. If you took an intimate photo of yourself and sent it to your ex-partner, you are the copyright holder of that photo. However, if your partner took a photo of you, your partner owns the copyright to the photo. So, copyright ownership depends on who took the photo, not who is in the photo. For more information about how to use copyright ownership to have your photo taken down, please see **www.lsnjlaw.org**.

Unfortunately, there is no law that requires websites to take down your photo. In most cases, getting your photo taken down will depend on the individual policy of the website. Some websites may be very cooperative. Other websites make it more difficult. Below are some steps you can take to have your photos removed:

Visit the website to see if it has a removal policy. Some websites
may have an icon or link that tells you how to ask them to remove
a photo. Others have a "frequently asked questions" section that
explains how to have a photo removed. In some cases, the information may be difficult to find. Sometimes you can find it by clicking
the small print on the bottom or top of the website that says "About

Us," "Contact Us," or "Privacy Policy." If the website has a search feature, enter the word "contact" or "removal" to see if it takes you to the information you need. If the website has a removal procedure, follow the steps they provide. Do not pay for removal. This is a scam.

- If the website has no information about removal, find their contact information and tell them you would like your photo removed. It can be difficult to find the website's contact information. You may have to look for small links at the bottom or top of the page. Sometimes the information is not labeled as contact information but can be found in links to the "Administrator" or "About Us" sections of the website.
- If the website has no contact information or refuses to take down your photo and YOU took the photo you want removed, you may be protected by a federal law called the Digital Millennium Copyright Act. If you did not take the photo and the person who took the photo did not give you rights to the photo, you are not the copyright owner and are not protected by the Digital Millennium Copyright Act.

The only way to completely prevent yourself from being a victim of revenge porn is to not take or share intimate photos of yourself. If you do decide to take intimate photos, think carefully before sharing them. Who are you sending them to? How well do you know the person? Can you really trust them? How would you feel about the photo being online? Unfortunately, an impulsive moment shared with the wrong person can have terrible consequences. A good rule of thumb is to avoid sharing any photos that you would be embarrassed to find on the Internet.

Also, do not trust technology to delete photos. Files that have been deleted can easily be recovered. Also, "apps" like Snapchat that allow you to send messages that "disappear" are not always what they seem. Images sent through Snapchat may not really be deleted and can be accessed later. There are apps that allow the person to save the photo without notifying you. It is important to remember that you have the choice to send photos of yourself to anyone you choose. Unfortunately, you can not choose what that person does with them. It is also a good idea to create search "alerts" on popular search engines like Google. You can set up an alert to email you whenever material associated with your name appears online.

Additional Technology Resources

- National Network to End Domestic Violence's Safety Net Project has many resources including a Technology Safety Planning Checklist: bit.ly/1KuZW05
- NJ State Police Cyber Crimes unit: 609-584-5051, ext. 5664



2. Overview of the Legal System

Introduction to the Legal System

Domestic violence cases may involve both civil law and criminal law. Your complaint about acts of domestic violence may be heard in civil court, criminal court, or both.

The civil law system. The Prevention of Domestic Violence Act, which authorizes restraining orders, is a civil law. Under civil law, one person may sue another person for a private wrong. In a civil domestic violence action, you ask the court to give you protection from the person who is abusing you. You do not ask the civil court to put the person in jail for committing a crime. In a civil case, you are the plaintiff, and the opposing party, the abuser, is the defendant. Both parties may hire lawyers. In civil court, the judge does not appoint an attorney for either party in a domestic violence restraining order case. Other common legal actions brought in civil courts are suits for divorce and suits to recover money for personal injuries or damages.

The criminal law system. The criminal law system handles cases that involve violations of criminal law, such as harassment, assault, murder, theft, etc. Criminal cases may be prosecuted at the county courthouse in the superior court–criminal part, or at a local courthouse in municipal court. Since the state has a duty to protect its citizens, all violations of state criminal laws are considered public wrongs and crimes against the state. A prosecutor represents the state by prosecuting those accused of committing crimes. You, the victim, are a witness for the prosecutor's case.

A person accused of a crime is called the defendant. The defendant can hire a lawyer to represent them in court. A defendant who cannot afford a lawyer may be able to have one appointed. Actions committed by a minor that would otherwise be a crime are called "juvenile delinquency" or "juvenile justice" cases.

You can file both a criminal complaint against the abuser and a civil complaint for a restraining order for the same act of domestic violence.

Using Civil Law—the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act

The Prevention of Domestic Violence Act is a New Jersey civil law that offers legal help to victims of domestic violence. A temporary restraining order (TRO) is a temporary court order that prohibits the abuser from coming near you or committing further acts of domestic violence against you. It may provide several forms of relief (see What relief is available with a temporary restraining order, page 33). When you go to court to file for a TRO (see below), be sure to list every act of domestic violence (see Acts of domestic violence, page 32) if there is more than one. The TRO remains in effect until your final hearing, which is generally in about 10 days. At the final hearing, a judge will decide whether your TRO should become permanent by granting you a final restraining order (FRO).

What are the requirements for a temporary restraining order (TRO)? You should be able to secure a TRO if (1) the abuser is at least 18 years old, or meets one of the exceptions; (2) you are in a qualifying relationship with the abuser; and (3) you allege that you have been subjected to one of the 19 crimes set forth in the New Jersey Prevention of Domestic Violence Act. (N.J.S.A. 2C:33 et. al.). Evidence is not needed for this application; your testimony is enough. Each of these is described in greater detail below. **If the abuser is not yet 18.** To be eligible to obtain a restraining order against the abuser under the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act, the abuser must be at least 18 years of age or an "emancipated minor"–which means they have 1) married, 2) entered the military, 3) had a child or are currently expecting a child, or 4) been declared an emancipated minor by a court.

Even if you are not eligible for a domestic violence restraining order because the abuser is under the age of 18 and not an emancipated minor, you may report such acts to your local police. The unlawful behavior may be prosecuted as juvenile delinquency or (in certain situations) as crimes. You may ask the police, prosecutor, or court handling the juvenile or criminal case to enter a no-contact order in the juvenile delinquency or criminal case.

Qualifying relationships. A domestic violence restraining order is only available if you have one of the following types of relationships with the abuser:

- You are presently or were previously dating the abuser.
- You have a child in common, or the abuser is a person with whom you are expecting a child, if one of the parties is pregnant.
- You are presently or were previously married to the abuser.
- You are presently living with or have previously lived with the abuser. This may include family members, caretakers, roommates, or other adults with whom you live or have lived.

Acts of domestic violence. Nineteen criminal acts are subject to a domestic violence restraining order. You must be able to describe and prove at least one recent instance of such an act, and may also provide any history of such acts (regardless of whether the acts were ever reported to the police) when seeking a domestic violence restraining order. These crimes include: harassment, terroristic threats, assault, stalking, homicide, lewdness, sexual assault, criminal sexual contact, false imprisonment, criminal restraint, kidnapping, criminal trespass, burglary, criminal mischief, cyber-harassment, robbery, criminal coercion, violation of a restraining order, and any other crime involving risk of death or serious bodily injury.

Some of the more common examples of domestic violence that qualify for a restraining order are:

- Harassment—Harassment occurs when someone intends to harass another person and uses email, regular mail, phone calls, texting, face-to-face communications, or any other way to send messages from the abuser to annoy or alarm you. A person may also be guilty of harassment if that person touches you in an offensive way. Offensive touching includes acts such as hitting, kicking, pushing, and touching. This type of act may be considered harassment whether or not you have been injured. Threatening to do any of these acts may also be considered harassment. If someone does things that are meant to scare or seriously annoy you, and these actions are repeated, that person may also be guilty of harassment.
- Terroristic threats—A terroristic threat is a threat of a crime of violence with the purpose of terrorizing you. It can also be a threat to kill you that puts you in fear of imminent death.
- Assault—Assault occurs when one person causes or tries to cause bodily injury to another person (for example, the abuser hits or kicks you, or throws something at you).
- Criminal mischief—Criminal mischief occurs when someone intentionally damages your property. Examples include the abuser breaking down your apartment door, breaking your phone, throwing a rock through your window, or slashing your car tires.
- Stalking—Stalking occurs when a person purposely and repeatedly follows you or watches you, which causes you emotional distress.

What relief is available with a temporary or final restraining order? In a temporary or final restraining order, a judge may include a wide variety of restrictions and provisions about safety, child custody and parenting time, and financial matters. Any of the terms listed on your TRO, as well as additional relief, may become permanent if an FRO is granted after a hearing. A TRO or FRO may include one or more of the following types of relief:

- The abuser's weapons must be seized by the police (see Weapons on page 44).
- The abuser shall have no contact with you, your relatives, and other people you identify as being at risk.
- The abuser shall not enter the location where the violence occurred, the home where you live, your place of work or school, and other locations you request.
- Sole possession of a home you shared.
- Temporary custody of shared children.
- The abuser's parenting time with the children is restricted or suspended.
- The abuser must continue to provide financial support for you and your children.
- You have possession of a car, a key, a health insurance card, a checkbook, passport, immigration documents, birth certificates, or other items that you might need.
- You can also request that the judge order your landlord to change the locks on a shared residence.

There are other provisions to protect and help you that can also be included in a restraining order. You can discuss these with a lawyer.

How Can I Get a Temporary Restraining Order (TRO)?

To get a TRO, you may file a complaint by visiting or calling the family part of the superior court from 8:30 a.m. until 3:30 p.m. On weekends, holidays, and other times when the courts are closed, you should ask the police to help you get a TRO. They can help you apply to a municipal court judge for a TRO.

At the family part of the superior court, an intake worker or court advocate will help you fill out the forms. Your address will be kept confidential. It is important for you to make sure that the most recent act(s) of domestic violence, as well as prior acts of domestic violence against you, are listed on the forms. If an incident is not mentioned, the judge may not allow you to bring it up in court at the FRO hearing. Prior acts of domestic violence include any incidents of domestic violence that occurred in the past, whether or not they were reported to the police, even if there was a lack of physical evidence. If English is not your first language, you can ask the court to provide you with a copy of the TRO template in your language.

If you are not able to get to the family court or to speak to the police—for example, if you are in the hospital or if you are bedridden—a third party can file a domestic violence complaint and ask the judge for a TRO on your behalf.

How Can I Get a TRO Changed to a Final Restraining Order (FRO)?

If the judge grants you a TRO, the order is only valid until the hearing date. A full hearing should be scheduled at the superior court within 10 days. You must appear in court at that time and tell the judge your side of the story. The abuser will also be there and will have an opportunity to tell the judge their side of the story. If you do not appear in court on the specified day, the complaint may be dismissed. A dismissal leaves you without protection from the abuser and may leave you without legal custody of your children if there is no other order in place.

If you have any witnesses to the violence, they should go to court with you. You may want to have a lawyer with you in court, particularly if you think the abuser will have a lawyer. When you go to court you should take the following:

- Witnesses
- Pictures of your injuries
- Certified medical records
- All other evidence you have to prove any incidents of domestic violence that are in the basis of your complaint

• If you are asking for support from the abuser, proof of your income, the abuser's income, and your expenses (such as pay stubs, tax returns, rent receipts, utility bills, etc.)

In court, you and the abuser will tell your sides of the story and present witnesses and other evidence. You or your attorney will be able to cross-examine (question) the abuser and the abuser's witnesses. The abuser or the abuser's attorney will also be able to cross-examine you. Based on all the testimony, the judge will decide if a final restraining order should be granted.

What Should I Do Before Court?

Prepare your own testimony. Testifying in court, telling the judge your story, can be a very stressful experience. It is a good idea to think about what your testimony will be before getting to court. You might also find it helpful to write down your testimony. Your testimony should consist of four parts: relationship to the abuser, most recent incident of domestic violence, history of domestic violence (if applicable), and why you need the protections of the final restraining order. As part of why you need the final restraining order, you can tell the court if you have experienced any elements of coercive control. This is a factor the court must consider when deciding to enter a final restraining order. Some examples of coercive control are isolation from family and friends, deprivation of basic necessities, monitoring your movements, threatening to harm a relative or pet, or other behaviors that unreasonably interfere with your free will and personal liberty.

After you write down this information, think about each incident and decide if there are any relevant witnesses or evidence that you can present in court. Please note that you will not be able to read from this paper in court like a book, but can have an outline to reference. It is only to help you prepare before you go to court. After you decide what your testimony will be, you should compare it to the contents of your temporary restraining order. If you would like to testify to incidents for which notice is not provided in your temporary restraining order, you may amend the temporary restraining order. This can be done remotely or by going to the county courthouse, preferably before the date of your final restraining order hearing, and tell the staff at the family intake unit that you would like to add or change information in your temporary restraining order. A new temporary restraining order will be created and served on the abuser.

Gather evidence. While preparing for the final restraining order hearing, you should gather your physical evidence. This may include photos, screenshots of texts, broken items, torn clothing, certified medical records, or any type of electronic recordings (contained on a disk or jump drive). You may also request evidence from the police, including the police report, photographs, body camera footage, or the 911 call. The police must provide this information at no cost. Please note police reports are not likely to be used in court, but can be used to assist you to recall prior incidents. Remember to take these with you the day of your hearing.

Relief. Consider what you will want to request from the court if a final restraining order is entered. This may include possession of certain property, payment of bills or support, ordering a landlord to change the locks on a shared residence, or parenting time of shared children.

Dress appropriately. Whenever you go before the court to present your case, you should wear professional and modest clothing. This doesn't necessarily mean a suit. However, it is not advisable to wear clothing that is ripped, ill-fitting, bears offensive language, or is otherwise inappropriate for a business setting.

Prepare witnesses for the hearing. Witnesses to the domestic violence might include family members, co-workers, friends, neighbors, and police officers. It is best to talk to witnesses before the hearing to find out what they may have seen or heard that will help your case.

Remember that any witness who testifies must have personal knowledge of an act of domestic violence committed against you. For example, you may want a neighbor who has helped you during an emergency who can testify about your demeanor and any injuries they personally observed.

You should think carefully before deciding to have any children testify in court. Courts are often hesitant to allow children to testify in domestic violence hearings. Always tell the judge right away if you want to have a witness under the age of 18 testify. The judge will want to know who the parents of the child are, and exactly what you think the child will testify about. The judge will decide if a child will testify.

Make sure that witnesses appear at the hearing. Any person who is a witness in your case must come to court or, with prior permission, participate remotely and testify because the court will only consider live testimony from a witness. The only way to legally order a witness to attend your hearing is to issue and deliver a subpoena to that witness. A subpoena is an order to a person telling that individual that he or she must attend the hearing and give testimony. It is a good idea to do this even if the witness is a friend or family member. The subpoena will show the witness's employer or school why the witness must miss work or school on a certain day.

What Happens in Court?

You must show up at the date and time listed on your temporary restraining order so that the matter can be heard by a judge. You are the plaintiff, and the abuser is the defendant.

If an attorney is representing you, arrange a time and place to meet at court on the day of the hearing. If you are unrepresented, or pro se, go to court and have a seat in the waiting area outside the courtroom where your matter will be heard. Some courts have a separate waiting area where domestic violence victims can sit while they wait for their case to be called. Other courts do not have a separate room, so the plaintiff and defendant should take seats as far away from each other as is practical. If you feel threatened, tell the nearest sheriff's officer.

When the sheriff's officer or staff person for your courtroom comes out to ask who is present for that judge, you need to check in by letting the sheriff's officer know that you are present. If English is not your native language, you should ask for an interpreter. If you need an interpreter other than Spanish, it is a good idea to call the court to request one beforehand.

If you have chosen not to pursue a final restraining order (to dismiss the temporary restraining order), you should let the sheriff's officer or staff person know this. You will then be directed to speak with an advocate regarding your decision. They will assist you in filling out the necessary paperwork and confirm that the decision to dismiss is yours (that you are not being pressured or forced into the dismissal). You will still need to have an appearance in front of a judge to process the dismissal.

Once your case is called. Once you are called in for your case by the sheriff's officer, you will be seated at a table on one side of the courtroom, and the defendant will be seated at another table. If either of you has an attorney present, the attorneys will be seated with you at your tables.

After being sworn in, you, the plaintiff, as the party bringing the lawsuit, will present your case first. If you have an attorney, your attorney will ask you questions and you will answer them. If you do not have an attorney, the judge may ask you the questions, but it is still your obligation to ensure all the necessary evidence and information is presented. This is called direct examination. You will be given the opportunity to testify (tell your side of the story) and then present any relevant evidence and other witnesses to the domestic violence incident or incidents.

Your obligation during your testimony. During a final restraining order hearing, you have to prove certain elements by what is called a *preponderance of the evidence*. Preponderance of the evidence means that your version of events is more likely to have occurred than the defendant's version.

You must prove three things to meet this standard.

• First, you need to prove to the court that you are in a relationship recognized by the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act. How do you know the defendant? Your relationship with the defendant must

fit certain criteria. Were you and the defendant married? Are you married now? Did or do you live together? Do you share a child? Were you or are you in a dating relationship?

• Second, you must prove to the court that an act of domestic violence was committed against you. This act must be one of the 19 crimes that you can see on the first page of your temporary restraining order. These crimes include harassment, terroristic threats, assault, stalking, homicide, lewdness, sexual assault, criminal sexual contact, false imprisonment, criminal restraint, kidnapping, criminal trespass, burglary, criminal mischief, cyber-harassment, robbery, criminal coercion, violation of a restraining order, and any other crime involving risk of death or serious bodily injury. This current incident is captioned on the first page of your temporary restraining order above those 19 listed crimes. If you have been the victim of sexual assault, criminal sexual contact, lewdness, stalking or cyber-harassment, but do not meet the relationship requirement, you may be eligible for a protective order under the Victim's Assistance and Survivor Protection Act. This form of protection is not addressed in these materials.

The judge will decide if a current act of domestic violence has been committed against you. The judge will consider a history of domestic violence that was committed against you (referenced immediately below those 19 crimes on page one of your temporary restraining order).

• The final element you need to prove is that you are in need of a final restraining order—that is, without a final restraining order you will be in immediate danger.

Proving these elements: general tips on how to testify.

The way you prove the elements of your case to the judge is by testifying. It is very important for your story to be the same every time. You should answer all questions honestly. Remember that if a judge thinks that you have not testified truthfully about even a minor fact, the judge may not believe the rest of your testimony. You must also answer questions from the defendant, defendant's attorney, or the judge simply, honestly, and directly.

Evidence. Evidence might include photographs of your injuries. Even if the police have taken photographs of your injuries, take your own pictures and take them with you to court. Do not expect the judge will have photographs taken by the police or the police report. Photographs taken by the police do not carry more weight than those you took yourself. After you testify about receiving a particular injury, you should make the judge aware that you have pictures of your injuries. The sheriff's officer will take those pictures from you to show them to the judge. It is important to tell the judge that the pictures you are providing are true and accurate representations of what you testified they are.

If you sought medical attention because of your incident of domestic violence, it is a good idea to get your medical records. Ask that the records be certified. This certification is necessary for the court to consider the contents of your medical records. This means that your records will have a cover sheet on the top that tells the court that the records are true and accurate copies of your medical records. After you testify about seeking medical treatment, you should ask the court to review these medical records.

There are many different types of evidence, including text messages, voicemails, and phone records. The goal of evidence is to support your testimony and help you to meet your burden, the preponderance of the evidence. With any evidence that you present, it is important for you to authenticate that evidence. This means you must testify that the evidence you are providing is an accurate representation of the facts. You want to tell the court what this evidence is, how you obtained it, and how it helps your case.

After you finish presenting evidence. Once you testify, the defendant or the defendant's attorney has the right to cross-examine (question) you. Cross-examination is a means of flushing out any inconsistencies in the opposing party's story. If any witnesses testify, they can also be cross-examined. After being cross-examined, the

plaintiff will usually have the opportunity to explain any inconsistencies that were raised during cross-examination. This is done through redirect examination. Here, the plaintiff's attorney will ask the plaintiff additional questions to clear up any seeming inconsistencies brought out by the defendant or their attorney. If you do not have a lawyer, you will have one final opportunity to talk about the domestic violence.

Once the plaintiff has finished, the defendant will be given the same opportunity to testify and present witnesses and evidence. Now you will have the opportunity to cross-examine the defendant and object to any testimony or evidence you believe is inappropriate.

After all of the evidence has been submitted. When both you and the defendant have finished presenting your cases to the court, the judge will then give their opinion. While the judge is giving the opinion, you are not allowed to speak or present any additional evidence. The judge will inform you whether your temporary restraining order will be dismissed or become final, and provide reasons for their decision. If English is not your first language, you can ask the court to provide you with a copy of the order template in your language.

How Can a Final Restraining Order Help Me?

An FRO will stay in effect permanently unless you or the abuser get the court to dismiss the restraining order. Unlike a TRO, an FRO can provide you with continuing protection, support, and other relief. An FRO may provide one or more of the following types of relief to victims of domestic violence:

- Restraints—The abuser can be forbidden from having contact with you, your relatives, and anyone else named in the order. The abuser will also be restricted from going to your home, work, or any other specific location you ask to be included in the order.
- Exclusive possession of your home—The abuser can be ordered to move out of the house or apartment you share. In other words, you can be awarded exclusive possession of the home, regardless of who has title to the property. The judge cannot order "in-house re-

straints," which would allow the abuser to share the house with you. The abuser can be required to make rent or mortgage payments and utility payments for your home.

• Custody—You can be awarded custody of shared children. The judge is supposed to let you—rather than the abuser—have the children, unless the abuser can convince the judge that you are unfit. This differs from a regular custody case, where both parents stand on the same footing. The judge is required to assume that the children are better off with the parent who is not violent.

If you leave the abuser because of domestic violence, you should take the children with you, if possible. If you want custody of the children in the future, your chances are better if you have them with you.

• Parenting time—The judge will usually grant parenting time to the parent who does not have custody. The schedule set up by the court should avoid contact between you and the abuser to help prevent further abuse. Parenting time should never be set up so that you and the abuser are alone together for the pickup and drop-off of the children. Ask the judge to specify the parenting time schedule and procedure in the restraining order. For example, the abuser can be required to pick up and return the children at your curb, at the home of a neutral third party, or in a public place such as a police station. Think about specific days and times for parenting time prior to the hearing.

If you are worried about your children's safety if they visit the abuser, you can ask the judge to order a risk assessment. This is an evaluation of the abuser to determine whether unsupervised visits will endanger the children. You must tell the judge the reasons for your concerns about parenting time (e.g., drug or alcohol abuse, or previous abuse or neglect of the children). You can ask the judge to order that parenting time with the abuser be supervised by a third party, such as a friend or relative, or through a court-run program, until the risk assessment is complete and the court feels that the children are safe. If the abuser mistreats the children during visits after your hearing, you can return to court and file an application for an emergency hearing. You can then ask that the parenting time be suspended immediately.

• Support for you and your children—The judge can require the abuser to immediately pay you support to meet your expenses. The judge may also order ongoing child support, spousal support, and continued financial support for other expenses, such as housing costs, utilities, and other ongoing expenses.

In determining how much support you are entitled to, the judge will want to know about your and the abuser's income and expenses. It is important to take any financial records to court with you. The judge also can order the abuser to keep you and your children on the abuser's health insurance policy or to provide medical coverage for you and your children.

- Weapons—The abuser will be forbidden from possessing a gun or other weapon. The judge can order the police to take the abuser's weapons away and revoke the abuser's weapons permit so the abuser cannot get another gun. When the police seize weapons from the abuser, the prosecutor takes possession of the weapons. A separate weapons hearing will be held no later than 60 days from the time the police take the weapons. The prosecutor will represent the state's side of the case. You will be notified of the date of the weapons hearing and may choose to attend. You are not required to attend the weapons hearing. At the weapons hearing, the court will determine whether the weapons should be returned to the abuser (if a final restraining order is in place, then they cannot be returned). Let the prosecutor know in writing if you would like the weapons to be permanently removed. The court can do this and also take away any and all permits or licenses to possess weapons that the abuser may have. (Note: Weapons mean more than just guns; weapons include knives, brass knuckles, swords, etc.)
- Damages—The abuser can be required to pay you for any losses related to the domestic violence. This could include moving expenses, counseling costs, lawyer's fees, medical bills, time lost from

work, or any money you spent to repair the abuser's damage to your property.

- Counseling—The abuser can be required to attend professional counseling for domestic violence behavior (known as abuse intervention programs), drug and alcohol abuse, or any other counseling that might be helpful. The judge can order the abuser to report back to family court with proof of the abuser's attendance at counseling sessions and parenting classes.
- Property—You can be given possession of property such as a car, a checkbook, a key, a health insurance card, etc.

If the court makes a decision about custody, parenting time, or child support at the domestic violence hearing, either party can seek to modify the decision by filing an application with the court. The judge cannot grant you a divorce at a domestic violence hearing.

Both TROs and FROs are valid everywhere in New Jersey. The local or state police must enforce your restraining order, even outside of the county where you got the order. The orders are also valid in all 50 states. If you move to another state, you can contact the family court and ask for information about how to register your restraining order in the new state. You should also give a copy of your FRO to your local police wherever you may move.

What happens to the defendant when the FRO is grant-

ed? When the court grants an FRO, the defendant will be fined. The fine will range from \$50 to \$500, depending on the nature and degree of your injury, and will go to a special fund for domestic violence victims. The fee may be waived if the defendant claims extreme financial hardship. The abuser will also be fingerprinted and photographed. The information regarding the FRO will be entered into a domestic violence central registry. The information on this registry is not available to the public but is to police and certain government agencies. In addition, the abuser will not be permitted to possess any weapons. What steps do I have to take after I receive a final restraining order? You will receive a copy of the final order immediately after your hearing. This order is the written document that explains the current legal status of your case. It is very important that you keep a copy of it with you at all times. Someone from the family court staff may also give you an extra copy to take to your local police department. It is important that you also do the following:

- Review the order before you leave the courthouse. If something is wrong or missing, ask the sheriff's officer to correct the order before you leave.
- Take a photo of the restraining order to keep on your phone and make several copies as soon as you can. Leave a copy of the order at your home and in your car so it is easy for you to get to in an emergency. Give a copy of the final order to each of your children's schools, childcare programs, or babysitters.
- Consider giving a copy of the order to a neighbor or to nearby relatives.
- Give a copy to any of your relatives or friends who are named and protected by the order.
- Give a copy to the security guard, supervisor, or person at the front desk where you live and work.

It is important to give copies of your restraining order to all of these people in case the abuser attempts to violate the final order. You (or someone on your behalf) have to be prepared to tell the police that you have a restraining order. The best way to do this is to show the police a copy of your order or ask them to look it up in their database.

You may also want to consider changing your locks or your telephone number. If the abuser has your telephone number, you may wish to contact your telephone carrier to find out what kinds of services are available for dealing with annoying phone calls.

Dismissing a restraining order. In order to dismiss an FRO so that it no longer applies, the party seeking to dismiss the order must

make the request or file a motion in family court. When a victim seeks to dismiss the order, the judge must make sure that the request is voluntary and not coerced. If a defendant seeks to dismiss the order, the court must determine whether there is good cause. This is called a Carfagno motion. In deciding whether good cause exists, the court will consider a number of factors, including: (1) whether the victim consents, (2) whether the victim fears the defendant, (3) the nature of the current relationship between the parties, (4) whether the defendant has been convicted of contempt for violating the order, (5) whether the defendant abuses drugs or alcohol or has been violent with other people, (6) whether the defendant has engaged in counseling, and (7) whether the victim is acting in good faith when opposing the defendant's request.

IF YOU ARE NOT a United States citizen and you need a restraining order. A restraining order is available, as is any relief listed above, regardless of your immigration status. Immigrant victims need protection, shelter, and custody of their children, just like other victims of domestic violence. You may, however, have additional legal concerns. It is very important for victims who are non-citizens to speak with an immigration lawyer. You may qualify for lawful permanent residence (LPR) status under a federal law known as the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) or a U or T visa. For more information, see *Immigration Relief* for Victims of Domestic Violence on page 57.

What About Filing Criminal Charges?

The police have the authority to file a criminal complaint against the abuser. The prosecutor may press charges and prosecute, even against the wishes of the victim. As the criminal case progresses, you may receive a subpoena, which is a court order to testify about what happened. Be sure to communicate to the prosecutor what outcome you would like regarding the criminal case as the prosecutor may suggest the relief that you believe is appropriate. If the prosecution is successful, the abuser may be ordered to pay a fine, or placed in jail or on probation. A criminal complaint, however, will not necessarily protect you from the abuser if the abuser is not restrained from contact with you.

A criminal complaint involves charging the defendant with a crime. If the police file a criminal complaint against the abuser, you, as the victim of the crime, should appear in court as the state's witness in order for the case to proceed. Only if you appear in court can you can testify about what happened and suggest the relief that you believe is appropriate in addition to, or instead of, jail time. That relief may include a psychological assessment and treatment and/or alcohol testing and treatment, etc. Without your complaint and testimony in court, the prosecutor may choose not to pursue the case. In some circumstances, where signs of abuse are not visible, the police do not file the complaint. You, however, can still file a criminal complaint and proceed on your own.

Once a criminal complaint has been filed, the defendant can be arrested. If you decide to file criminal charges against the abuser, you should be aware that, unless the situation is extreme, the defendant will probably be released from police custody.

As the victim, you may given the opportunity to indicate why you do not want the abuser released. You should be specific about the serious nature of the acts of violence that have been committed. It is important to give the court and law enforcement officers several addresses and telephone numbers where you can be reached and to update them if you move. Let the court and police know that this information must be kept confidential. You may ask for a victim notification form, requesting that you be notified if the abuser is released from jail.

Eventually, a court hearing will be scheduled at which you must appear and testify. If the defendant is found guilty, the judge will sentence them. The sentence may include imprisonment, probation, or a fine. It may also require that the defendant undergo counseling for psychological problems, attend a batterers' intervention program, or receive treatment for drug/alcohol abuse.

Should I Get Legal Advice?

You should talk to a lawyer, particularly if you have children and expect a custody or parenting time dispute, or if you have an interest in personal or real property. Since time with a lawyer is expensive, prepare for the session in advance by thinking through everything you want to know and writing down your questions. Some domestic violence service providers have legal advocates or volunteer lawyers who conduct legal clinics where you may get legal advice for free. The legal advocates are not lawyers, but they are specially trained. These advocates can help you prepare to talk to a lawyer and focus your questions. This will help you to save time and money. Never take legal advice from someone who is not a licensed attorney. Well-intentioned friends and relatives may offer opinions, but they may not be legally correct. You should only take legal advice from a lawyer.

In addition to writing down the questions you will be asking a lawyer, you should also gather all of the information that may be useful to the lawyer, for example: previous court orders and other important documents or evidence about your case, such as police reports, photographs of injuries or property damage arising from the domestic violence, copies of your bills for medical care, and your monthly bills for rent, utilities, etc. If you need information about spousal support and child support, take a detailed budget of your day-to-day expenses.

Everything you say to your own lawyer is confidential. If you are still living with the abuser when you see a lawyer and you do not want the abuser to know that you talked to a lawyer, tell your lawyer not to call or write to you at your home. Be sure to tell your lawyer how to safely get in touch with you.

Lawyers' fees vary. Do not be shy about discussing fees. If you cannot afford the fee, be honest. In addition to the lawyer's fee for services, there are also costs for filing certain legal papers with the court. There is no cost to file a TRO. If you choose to hire a private lawyer, they will probably want the money (a retainer) in advance. Shop around and find a lawyer you can afford. The New Jersey State Bar Association publishes a free directory, listing lawyers who handle issues related to domestic violence. To obtain a copy, call the New Jersey State Bar Association (**www.njsba.com**) at 732-249-5000. You may also want to contact your county bar association's lawyer referral service.

If you need the advice of a lawyer but cannot afford one, you may be eligible for free legal advice or representation from Legal Services. The addresses and telephone numbers of New Jersey's Legal Services programs are listed on the inside front cover of this handbook. You may also contact Legal Services of New Jersey's statewide, toll-free legal hotline, LSNJLAWSM, at 1-888-LSNJ-LAW (1-888-576-5529) or apply for help online at **www.lsnjlawhotline.org**. The hotline provides information, advice, and referrals in civil legal matters to eligible low-income residents of New Jersey. You may also qualify for representation by LSNJ's Domestic Violence Representation Project (see Getting Legal Help on page 12).

If you go to court by yourself, read this handbook carefully. Take notes on what you read and make notes about your situation. Review your notes before you go to court. If you are prepared, you will be more at ease. Be prepared to give the judge a detailed account of the violence and abuse that just occurred and what has occurred in the past. Organize your evidence, such as photographs and medical and police reports. Prepare a list of your expenses if you are going to ask for support. Review the additional information contained at *Isnjlaw.org* and on the Legal Services of New Jersey YouTube channel (including instructional videos).

What Should I Do If the Abuser Violates the TRO or FRO?

To enforce your domestic violence restraining order, you must first determine what part of the court order the abuser is violating. Part I of the order covers the no-contact provisions and the surrender of weapons. Part II addresses, among other things, parenting time and support. The law addresses violations of the two parts differently.

Violations that are criminal. If the abuser violates the no-contact portion of the court order (either the TRO or the FRO), the abuser may be charged with criminal contempt. The parts of your domestic violence restraining order that will be enforced by a criminal contempt charge are set forth in Part I of the order.

The most common examples of the crime of contempt of a domestic violence order are when an abuser continues to harass the victim by telephoning, threatening, stalking, physically harming the victim, or going to a prohibited location. In any of these cases, the abuser should be charged with contempt. If the abuser is doing any of these things to you, and you feel you need help from the police immediately, you should call 911. If the police officer who responds to your call has reason to believe that a restraining order has been violated, that officer must arrest the abuser and immediately charge the abuser with contempt.

The abuser may also be charged with whatever crime was committed in violating the order. For example, if the abuser violates the order by punching the victim, the abuser should be charged with assault in addition to contempt.

Note: The criminal proceeding for contempt may be heard in a different court and at a different time from that of the proceeding for any additional crimes.

If the abuser is violating the restraining order but you don't feel you need to call the police for immediate help, you can still file a police report or criminal charge with the police at your earliest opportunity.

When an abuser violates the no-contact provisions of a restraining order, the county prosecutor's office makes the final decision about what the charges will be. This decision is made primarily by looking at the seriousness of the violation. In those cases where the abuser has violated a restraining order in a particularly serious manner—for example, by committing an aggravated assault—the prosecutor is likely to bring the case before a grand jury to seek an indictment. If the abuser is indicted, the case will proceed before a judge in the superior court, criminal division.

For less serious offenses, the prosecutor will proceed on the criminal charges in a hearing before a municipal court judge, while the contempt hearing will take place before a family court judge. It is important to remember that, even though contempt cases may be heard in the family court, they are still criminal cases. Since the abuser may be sentenced to jail, the abuser has the right to have an attorney represent them.

In all criminal cases (including when an abuser is arrested for violating a restraining order), a preliminary decision will be made regarding whether the criminal defendant will be detained in jail prior to the hearing. A defendant may be released on the condition that they have no further contact with the victim. Before a defendant is released, an effort is supposed to be made to notify the victim that the abuser is going to be released from jail. For this reason, you must keep the prosecutor's office and the family court notified of any change in your address or telephone number. This information will be kept confidential.

It is important to try to maintain an active role in your case. Try to find out which prosecutor will be handling your case. Familiarize the prosecutor with your case, especially by telling the prosecutor about any witnesses or evidence that you think may be useful in the prosecution of the case.

Sometimes victims who file contempt charges drop the charges because they believe the abuser may go to jail. Although incarceration is possible, it is not the only potential remedy. Sometimes the criminal sentence for contempt of a restraining order may be a period of probation, a fine, or a suspended sentence on the condition that the abuser attend counseling. You should discuss these possibilities with the prosecutor. You can also reach out to an advocate from your county victim-witness unit.

Violations that are not criminal. If the abuser violates the portion of your domestic violence restraining order that deals with parenting time, monetary compensation (spousal or child support), rent or mortgage payments, or the distribution of personal property, you may enforce the order by filing an application in the family court. The portions of the court order that are enforced by bringing an application in the family court are set forth in Part II of the order.

Typical violations to be enforced in the family court include the abuser's failure to follow the parenting time schedule by not returning the children home on time, failure to pay child support as ordered, or failure to return certain items of property to the victim as ordered. In all of these cases, the victim has the right to go to family court and file an application to enforce the terms of the order. The desired result in these hearings is to get the abuser to comply with the order, or sometimes even to modify the order.

Since most child support orders are made payable through the probation division, a victim who is not receiving the support ordered by the court should contact the probation division caseworker. That worker should be able to advise the victim what steps have already been taken by the probation division to enforce the order. The probation division must assist the victim in obtaining support, including bringing the case back to court for enforcement if necessary.

Further Legal Options

Divorce. If you are being abused, safety should be your first concern. Your main focus should be on taking steps to stop the violence by seeking shelter, getting a restraining order, or filing criminal charges. After the situation is under control and you are safely settled, you may want to get a divorce. When you do start a divorce, you may find that your spouse becomes violent again. Make sure your safety measures (see page 14) are all in place.

There are several grounds for divorce in New Jersey, one of which is extreme cruelty. Extreme cruelty includes physical and/or mental cruelty that endangers your safety or health and makes it unreasonable for you to continue living with your spouse.

If you are considering a divorce, you should consult a lawyer to discuss your situation, especially if you have children or own property. See also Divorce in New Jersey: A Self-Help Guide (Legal Services of New Jersey, 2019 Ed.) (www.lsnjlaw.org/Publications/Pages/ Manuals/DivorceGuide.pdf)

Child custody, parenting time, and support. Issues of custody, parenting time, and financial support can be handled at a restraining order hearing, if an FRO is granted, or in a separate family court action, such as a divorce. If these issues are decided at a domestic violence hearing, they will be considered emergency orders and either party can file a divorce case, or a request for these matters to be decided on the basis of a more complete hearing. Custody, parenting time, and child support decisions are always subject to modification if one party can show that the parties' circumstances have changed so that the earlier decision should be reexamined.

- Child custody—Without a court order, you do not have legal custody, even if your children have always lived with you and you have been the primary caretaker of the children. Both parents have equal rights and responsibilities regarding the children until a court has determined otherwise and entered an order. If you do not file for a restraining order or for divorce and do not live with the other parent, you may want to file separately for child custody. In a separate custody or divorce action, the judge will base the custody decision on the best interests of the children. Be sure to tell the judge about any history of domestic violence. The abuser's violence towards you is an important factor in a custody case. Again, if you leave your partner because of domestic violence, it is important to take your children with you if you can. You may have a better chance of keeping custody if your children are with you. (Note: The custody standard in a separate custody action is different from the standard in a domestic violence case. In a domestic violence case, the judge must assume that the children will be better off with the non-abusive parent unless the abuser can prove otherwise.)
- Relocation and removing the children from New Jersey—You may
 not move out of New Jersey with your children who were born in
 New Jersey, or who have lived here for five years, without the permission of the other parent or a court order allowing you to do so.
 This is true even if you have legal or residential custody. If you take
 the children from New Jersey in order to deprive the other parent of
 custody or parenting time, or to evade jurisdiction of the New Jersey
 courts, you may be arrested and charged with interference with
 custody.

If you are unable to obtain the consent of the noncustodial parent, you must file an application with the court, asking for permission. The court will focus on whether the move serves the best interests of the child. To make its determination, the court will consider:

- o The reasons given for the move and the reasons the noncustodial parent is opposing it.
- o Whether the children will receive similar health, education, and leisure opportunities.
- o Whether a parenting time and communication schedule can be developed that will allow the noncustodial parent to maintain a full and continuous relationship with the children.
- o The likelihood that you, the custodial parent, will encourage the relationship with the noncustodial parent if the move is allowed.

The court will also look at other factors, such as the child's preference if the child is of age, the effect of the move on extended family relationships, and generally any other factor that has a bearing on the child's interest. In determining the advantage of the move, courts have considered the cost of living in the other state compared to New Jersey.

- Parenting time restrictions—If you are granted legal custody of your children, the other parent usually will be granted parenting time. Even if these matters are not decided as part of a restraining order, you can and should still ask the judge to set up parenting time so that you can avoid contact with the abuser. If you think that the abuser may harm the children, you can ask that parenting time be supervised by a third party, that the abuser be investigated for problems such as drug or alcohol abuse, or that the abuser attend parenting classes.
- Support—If you do not have a court order for child support, you
 can file a complaint in family court. A court hearing will take place
 about your finances, the abuser's finances, and your need for
 support. The court will then decide how much child support you will
 receive for your children. The order will set the amount and method of payment. Most child support orders will require that support

payments be withheld from the noncustodial parent's paycheck. It is presumed that child support payments will be made through the New Jersey Child Support Program administered by the probation division in your county of residence instead of directly to you. This is a benefit since the probation division is responsible for tracking payments and enforcement. When child support is collected through the New Jersey Child Support Program, you can obtain current information on your account by contacting the statewide child support hotline at 1-800-621-KIDS (5437). To have your support collected through the New Jersey Child Support Program, contact your local probation division or find the application and detailed instructions at **www.njchildsupport.org**.

If you are receiving a welfare grant, the county welfare agency will proceed against the noncustodial parent of your children for a child support order on your behalf. If you believe your safety would be at risk if they do that, you can ask for the *family violence option*. See page 63 for more information. The county welfare agency is entitled to keep all but \$100 per month of the child support it collects. Each month, the first \$100 will be passed along to you without affecting your welfare grant. If the received child support exceeds your grant, however, your welfare grant may be terminated and you will then receive the entire amount of child support paid for each month.



3. Immigration Relief

mmigrant domestic violence victims may be able to obtain legal residency status (green cards) in several ways. Victims of domestic violence who are or were married to either a United States citizen (USC), legal permanent resident (LPR), or former USC or LPR may be able to obtain legal residency under the federal Violence Against Women Act (VAWA). There are also opportunities to maintain/ gain legal residency through a battered spouse waiver or U and T visas.

Legal Residency Through VAWA

If you are an immigrant domestic violence victim, you may be able to file a *self-petition* under VAWA to get legal residency status for yourself and your children if you:

- Were or are married to an abusive USC or LPR.
- Shared a residence with the abusive spouse for any length of time.
- Entered the marriage in good faith.
- Have good moral character.

If your citizen or lawful permanent resident spouse has abused your child, you may also qualify for VAWA even if you have not been abused yourself.

Filing a self-petition does not require the consent of the USC or LPR spouse. Unmarried children under the age of 21 can be included on

your application as derivatives. **Note**: VAWA self-petitions are also available to parents who are abused by their adult USC sons or daughters.

You may still qualify for a VAWA self-petition even if:

- Your spouse lost immigration status within the last two years.
- Your spouse died within the last two years.
- You divorced your spouse within the last two years.

Cancellation of removal under VAWA is another route to legal residency for certain immigrant domestic violence victims. This method is only available to you if you are in deportation/removal proceedings. Spouses of abusive USCs or LPRs may be eligible for cancellation of removal if they:

- Are battered or have suffered extreme cruelty.
- Have good moral character.
- Have resided continuously in the United States for at least three years prior to their application.
- Can show that removal will result in extreme hardship to themselves or children.

If you are the parent of a child who has been battered or who has suffered extreme cruelty by the USC or LPR parent, you may also be eligible for VAWA cancellation of removal.

Battered Spouse Waiver

Domestic violence victims who have obtained two-year conditional residency status through marriage to a USC or LPR may be eligible for a battered spouse waiver if they (or their children) suffered battery or extreme mental cruelty during the marriage. The waiver allows a victim to petition for the removal of conditions on their green card without the cooperation of the abusive spouse.

U Visa

The U Visa is another potential avenue to legal residency for immigrant victims of domestic violence. You may be eligible for a U Visa if you have been the victim of a crime such as domestic violence, rape, or sexual assault, and you helped, are helping, or will help with the investigation/prosecution of the crime. This application does not require marriage to the abuser, and the abuser does not have to be a legal resident or United States citizen. **Note**: While the U Visa is available to victims of domestic violence, it also applies to victims of other serious crimes that cause substantial physical or mental harm.

T Visa

Domestic violence victims who are victims of human trafficking may secure immigration status through the T Visa, which is used to grant status to non-citizen victims of severe forms of trafficking. Human trafficking occurs when individuals are tricked, forced, or threatened with serious harm or physical restraint to perform sexual services or other labor. A severe form of trafficking also occurs when a commercial sex act is induced by force, fraud, or coercion, or in situations where the person forced to perform such an act is under 18 years of age. You may be eligible for the T visa if you are a victim of a severe form of trafficking, are currently in the United States or a port of entry because of trafficking, and would suffer extreme hardship if you had to leave the United States.

Note: A victim age 15 years or older may be required to contact a federal law enforcement agency and comply with any reasonable request for assistance in investigating or prosecuting trafficking.



4. Employment Rights

Unemployment

You may be eligible for unemployment benefits if you have to leave your work because of domestic violence. You may file a claim over the phone or online. The online application and local phone numbers can be found on the Department of Labor and Workforce Development's website at **www.myunemployment.nj.gov**. When you file a claim, you must claim that you left work because of domestic violence and be prepared to give the unemployment office at least one of the following items:

- A copy of your restraining order.
- A copy of the police record of any complaints you filed or any calls made to the police on your behalf because of domestic violence.
- Documentation that the abuser has been convicted of one or more of the offenses listed in the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act (see Overview of the Legal System on page 30 for a list of these crimes).
- Medical documentation of the domestic violence, such as a doctor's report or a report from an emergency room where you were treated for injuries resulting from acts of domestic violence. (**Note**: When you go to an emergency room for treatment, be sure to explain that you are a victim of domestic violence and ask the medical staff to write that in their report.)

- A written certification or affidavit from a certified domestic violence specialist or the director of a domestic violence agency stating that you are a victim of domestic violence. (See page 85 for a list of domestic violence agencies in New Jersey.)
- Other documentation or certification of the domestic violence that can be provided by a social worker, your minister, pastor, priest, shelter worker, or another professional who has helped you to deal with the domestic violence.

If you can produce one or more of these documents and you are otherwise eligible for unemployment benefits, you should be able to collect benefits.

If you have been turned down for unemployment benefits, you can appeal. You will get a notice explaining how to file an appeal. You must file your appeal within seven days after you receive the notice or within 10 days after the determination was mailed. The appeal period will only be extended if you can show good cause for filing late. Good cause exists only in situations where you can show that the delay was due to circumstances beyond your control.

New Jersey Safety and Financial Empowerment Act

Dealing with the aftermath of a trauma can be overwhelming. When an act of physical violence ends, the to-do list for a victim is only beginning. New Jersey offers another protection for victims. The New Jersey Security and Financial Empowerment Act (NJ SAFE Act) went into effect on October 1, 2013. This law provides employment protections for victims of domestic and sexual violence. The NJ SAFE Act allows 20 days of unpaid leave for victims of violence to deal with the aftermath of the abusive act.

The 20 days of leave must be used within 12 months of the act of violence. Leave must be taken in no less than one-day intervals. The leave has to be related to the act of violence. Leave should be taken to:

• Seek medical attention for physical or psychological injuries.

- Obtain services from a victim services organization.
- Get psychological or other counseling.
- Participate in safety planning.
- Seek legal assistance or other necessary remedies to ensure health and safety.
- Attend criminal or civil court proceedings.

An employee who has paid leave available to take may choose to take it. The employer may require the employee to take any available paid leave time. If the employee takes the paid leave, it counts towards the 20 available days under the NJ SAFE Act. If the employee is aware of the leave prior to needing it, the employee should give written notice to the employer as far in advance as is reasonably possible.

The employer may ask for documentation related to the abuse but is not required to do so. Documentation may be:

- A temporary or final restraining order.
- Paperwork from the municipal or county prosecutor.
- Proof of offender's conviction.
- Medical records of the offense.
- A certification from a certified Domestic Violence Specialist or director of a domestic violence agency/rape crisis center.
- Documentation from a social worker, clergy member, or other professional who has assisted the victim.

Any documentation provided must be kept confidential by the employer unless the employee authorizes its release in writing.

Employees may seek leave whether they are the direct victim or the victim is their child, parent, spouse, domestic partner, or civil union partner. An employee is someone who has been employed for at least 12 months (having worked at least 1,000 base hours) before asking to take the leave. An eligible employer is someone who employs at least 25 employees for at least 20 weeks of the year.

Any leave granted through the protection of the NJ SAFE Act will not conflict with rights provided by the Family Leave Act, Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, or the Temporary Disability Benefits Law. Notice of the NJ SAFE Act must be properly provided by employers. Employers are not allowed to discriminate against employees who take this leave. An employee who feels discriminated against may seek relief in the Superior Court.



5. Public Assistance

Welfare

If you have a very low income, you may be able to receive monthly cash assistance from the government. You can go to your county welfare agency to apply for these benefits. If you need immediate help because you do not have shelter, food, or clothing, let the agency know. If you meet their other eligibility requirements, they must either give you cash right away or refer you to another agency that will provide you with food, shelter, clothing, or cash.

You can ask your caseworker to keep your address confidential. If you participate in the Address Confidentiality Program (see page 22), you will only have to give the welfare agency the designated address the program gave you.

When you apply for welfare, tell the welfare agency that you are a victim of domestic violence. There are special rules for domestic violence victims, called the Family Violence Option. The welfare office is supposed to tell you about these rules and offer you a chance to apply for them.

• The welfare agency requires applicants for or recipients of welfare to identify the other parent of their children so that the agency can collect child support. Victims of domestic violence can be excused from this requirement if they fear that providing information will result in harm to themselves or their children.

- Generally, welfare recipients must get work or participate in work activities right away, but domestic violence victims may get some additional time if they need it because of the domestic violence.
- Welfare benefits are limited to 60 months, but victims can get additional benefits if they need more time due to domestic violence.

Getting help from the welfare agency. For these exceptions to apply to you, you must let the welfare agency know that you are a victim of domestic violence. You do not have to discuss this with your caseworker. The welfare agency will refer you to a family violence specialist within the welfare agency. The family violence specialist will then refer you for a risk assessment to determine whether you qualify for an exception to the welfare rules. If so, they will work with you to develop a safety and service plan to help you become self-sufficient. You will work on meeting the plan goals with the domestic violence service provider. The plan and information about services you receive will not be shared with the welfare office and will be confidential.

Emergency Assistance (EA)

You may feel that it is impossible for you and your family to move away from the abuser because you have little or no money and no one to turn to for help. If you leave your residence and are homeless because of domestic violence, you should be eligible to receive a special public assistance grant, known as Emergency Assistance (EA), to help you pay for emergency shelter or a new residence. You will need to explain your situation to the welfare office. If you have children aged 18 or younger who will be moving with you, you may apply for EA at your county welfare agency. If you do not have children, you should call your county welfare agency to find out whether you need to apply there or at your municipal welfare office. If you have moved from your usual residence to a new county or town, you may apply in the county or town where you are staying, even if your stay is only temporary. The welfare agency will send a caseworker to see you if you cannot go to the office because you are in the hospital or you fear being harmed. EA payments are made for a period of up to 12 months. If you still do not have housing at the end of 12 months, you may be eligible for an extension. Assistance may be provided for temporary shelter, rent, food, clothing, security deposits for rent and utilities, and for certain home furnishings, such as beds and kitchen equipment. The amount you are given will depend on the number of people in your household. You should receive Emergency Assistance on the day you apply.

If you meet the income qualifications for welfare assistance, you have the right to receive EA. If the welfare agency denies your application for EA, or unduly delays granting such assistance, you should request an emergency fair hearing. The telephone number to call to ask for a fair hearing is 1-800-792-9773. The emergency hearing will be held within three working days of receipt of the request, and the director of the State Division of Family Development will give a final decision on the case within five working days.

You also may call the regional Legal Services program that serves your county and ask for assistance. A list of Legal Services programs and telephone numbers is on the inside front cover of this handbook. You also may call Legal Services of New Jersey's statewide, toll-free legal hotline, LSNJLAWSM, at 1-888-LSNJ-LAW (1-888-576-5529). An online application is available at **www.lsnjlawhotline.org**.

SNAP (Food Stamps)

If you are not already receiving SNAP (food stamps), you should also apply for SNAP. If you have less than \$100 in cash and earn less than \$150 per month (gross income, before taxes), or if your total gross monthly household income and available cash are less than your monthly rent and utilities or mortgage, you are entitled to receive "expedited" benefits. This means that your SNAP will be processed and available within seven working days of the day you apply. You will still need to complete the application process and submit documents needed for your application before you can be approved for benefits going forward. It is important that you tell the welfare agency that you are applying for expedited services. If you do not qualify for expedited services because your income and resources are considered too high, yet you are still found eligible to receive SNAP, your SNAP will be processed and available within 30 days of the day you apply. The amount you receive will depend upon your income, the number of people in your household, and certain expenses that the SNAP office will take into account.

Unfortunately, emergency fair hearings are not available in SNAP cases. If you are denied SNAP or you disagree with the amount granted, you should ask for a fair hearing. You can request a fair hearing by calling 1-800-792-9773. Although you can request that the hearing be held quickly, the process can take up to 90 days.



6. Counseling

Counseling for Yourself

You may feel depressed, helpless, and overwhelmed by your situation. It is very hard to make decisions or changes when you are anxious about or afraid of the consequences of those decisions. It is especially hard to think when you have no one with whom you can talk or share your concerns for yourself and your family. Without someone to help you sort out all of these things, you may continue to feel trapped or too frightened to make any move. A professional counselor can help you find some alternatives or at least provide emotional support for you during very difficult times. Your local domestic violence service provider can refer you to a counselor who understands your domestic violence issues. Please note that, when an FRO is granted, an exception is not created for counseling. Parties are not allowed to go to counseling together since this is a violation of the FRO.

Counseling for Your Children

Many abusers were abused as children or came from violent homes where they learned to think of violence as a normal way to resolve conflicts. Unless children who have grown up with violence are taught that it is not an acceptable or a normal way to behave, they may grow up to imitate their parents and become abusive parents or spouses. Growing up in a violent home is painful. It is very important to give your children a chance to talk about their experiences and feelings. Many counselors will work with you and your children, together and separately, to help you heal wounds, restore your self-confidence and self-esteem, and finally break the generation-to-generation cycle of abuse. Call your domestic violence service provider (see page 85) for information about children's services. Specifically ask for information on the program called Peace: A Learned Solution, known as the P.A.L.S. program.

Counseling for Batterers

Some domestic violence programs have services for batterers, which are often called batterers' intervention programs. You can find more information about these services on the New Jersey Coalition to End Domestic Violence website at **www.NJCEDV.org**. Under the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act, a judge can order a batterer to attend counseling. Many people want their partners to enter these programs and ask for this relief, hoping that their partner will change the violent behavior. There are several things you should know about these intervention programs in order to keep yourself safe or to assess the effectiveness of the treatment as it progresses.

While some batterers have learned to change through intervention or education programs, many have not successfully completed such programs. The key to the success of these treatment programs is the batterer's motivation. There are three critical things to look for:

- 1. The batterer accepts responsibility for the violence.
- 2. The batterer enters treatment without you.
- The batterer goes into treatment with absolutely no expectations from you, such as asking you to stay together if the batterer goes into treatment.

The program should keep you, and any services you are offered, separate from the services given to the batterer. Bear in mind that

changing violent behavior takes time—a lot of time. Sadly, very few batterers have the motivation to change or to make the time commitment to change their attitude and behavior. Many batterers agree to treatment because it provides an opportunity to manipulate their partners and family. Under these circumstances, it is not likely that the intervention will succeed. Even when a batterer completes a treatment program, there is no guarantee that the battering will never happen again.

If your partner agrees to enter a treatment program, you should still be mindful of safety measures, as well as the possibility that your partner may be manipulating you. You may also want to stay involved with a support group at the domestic violence prevention program so you can discuss what is going on and get some feedback about any concerns you may have about your partner's nonviolent, but still very controlling, behavior. A manipulative spouse may stay in treatment for a month or two and claim that they do not need it anymore. It is truly rare that any real change can take place in just a couple of months. In fact, it often takes a year or more of treatment before an abuser learns to change their behavior. So, while your partner is in treatment, do keep all of your safety measures and support systems in place. Anger management is different from a batterers' intervention program and is often not as successful in altering a batterer's behavior.

Marriage or Couples Counseling

Most domestic violence experts agree that traditional marriage counseling or couples counseling is not appropriate when there has been domestic violence. In fact, it may actually be harmful for you to participate in such counseling. You and your partner will likely need many months of individual counseling before you are ready to be counseled as a couple. Your partner needs to separate themselves from you, confront their own behavior, and accept responsibility for it. You need to build your self-esteem and independence. One or both of you may have problems with alcohol or drug abuse that must be faced and dealt with before you can work together as a couple. Any counselor you see must understand the dynamics of abuse.

Counseling for Alcohol and Drug Abuse

Many abusers have problems with alcohol or drug addiction. Even though the abuse may be happening more often when the abuser is drunk or high (and may be worse at these times), it does not mean that the situation would be fine if the abuser would only stop drinking or using drugs. Abusers often use being drunk or high as an excuse for their violence. They frequently claim that they did not know what they were doing because they were drunk. Addiction and violent behavior, while they often come together, are separate problems. They are both serious and life-threatening, and each must be dealt with separately. Abusers seldom stop beating their spouses or children just because they get sober or clean. Often, they will find other excuses to justify their violent behavior once they stop drinking or using drugs. If you insist that the abuser stop drinking or using drugs, you may also want to insist that the abuser get into counseling for batterers.

If you are using alcohol and drugs to help you cope with the stress of living in a violent relationship, or if you have come to think of drinking or getting high with your partner as something you can do together, you may be developing your own alcohol or drug abuse problem.

Alcohol and drugs will only make a bad situation worse. You cannot make good decisions about your future or your children's future if you are not sober or clear-headed, and you risk becoming addicted and damaging your health.

Your children, already living with fear and uncertainty, will have to face the additional burden of dealing with parents who are not quite "there" because they are drunk or high.

Alcohol and drugs (even tranquilizers and other prescription painkillers or mood-altering drugs) may keep you from thinking clearly enough to free you and your children from violence. If you are dependent on drugs or alcohol, you will have to do something about that dependence before you can find solutions to an abusive relationship. Honestly answering the following questions can show you how dependent you or the abuser may be on alcohol or drugs:

- Has someone close to you expressed concern about your drinking or drug use?
- When faced with a problem, do you use alcohol or drugs for relief?
- Are your responsibilities at home or work left unmet because of alcohol or drugs?
- Has drinking or drug use caused problems in your relationships with family or friends?
- Have distressing physical or psychological reactions occurred when you have tried to stop drinking or taking drugs?
- Have you or your partner ever required medical attention as a result of drinking or drug use?
- Have you experienced blackouts—a total loss of memory while still awake—when you were drinking?
- Have you broken promises to yourself to quit or control drug use or drinking?
- Do you or your partner feel guilty about drinking or drug use and try to conceal it from others?

If you answered yes to any of the above questions, drinking or drug use may be having a major effect on your life. If you come from a family with a history of drug or alcohol abuse, you are at an extremely high risk of becoming an addict or alcoholic yourself. If you answered yes to any of the questions, get help right away. Recognizing that you have a problem is only the first step. Solving the problem takes time. Do not try to do it alone. There are agencies and self-help groups that deal with alcohol and drug abuse.



7. Child Welfare

What Is DCPP?

The Division of Child Protection and Permanency, also known as DCPP and formerly known as DYFS, is New Jersey's child welfare agency that is responsible for investigating any claims or assertions made that a child is abused and/or neglected. New Jersey's Department of Children and Families (DCF) oversees the Division. DCF defines abuse as "the physical, sexual or emotional harm or risk of harm to a child under the age of 18 caused by a parent or other person who acts as a caregiver for the child." DCF states that "[n]eglect occurs when a parent or caregiver fails to provide proper supervision for a child or adequate food, clothing, shelter, education or medical care although financially able or assisted to do so."

In New Jersey, any person who believes that a child is abused and/or neglected must immediately report such information to the State Central Registry, so long as that belief is reasonable. It is considered a disorderly persons offense to fail to report. New Jersey requires that you report such information, so long as the report is made out of concern for the child and not in bad faith. No proof is required to make such a report, and the report can be made without you providing any of your identifying information.

What if I Am the Subject of a Report?

If you are the subject of such a report, remember that this begins

with an investigation. During a DCPP investigation, everything is being documented about your behavior and what you say to each person involved in the investigation, including but not limited to caseworkers, caseworker's supervisor, police officer(s), nurses, and psychologists. You do not have to let DCPP personnel into your home unless there is a court order requiring you to do so. However, DCPP may use your refusal to let them into your home against you because they are unable to complete the investigation.

DCPP may request that you sign a safety and protection plan. Not all cases where DCPP is involved end up in family court. A safety and protection plan is an interagency agreement between parents and the Division that identifies and addresses problems that may be occurring in the family in an effort to secure the safety of the children involved. It outlines steps a parent can take to keep their children safe as they live together as a unified family. Examples include requiring children to go to counseling and having regular contact with a caseworker. Additionally, safety plans often identify a "safety network" for the child, defined as individuals who can help "ensure the safety of the children." Safety networks are often composed of the child's relatives. It is common for Division investigators to suggest placing your children with a kinship caregiver (a relative, friend, or the other parent) in the recommended safety plan. Safety and protection plans can also be an agreement to keep the children separated from particular individuals.

You should not sign anything you do not understand. There can be significant consequences for parents who choose to sign a safety plan as opposed to going through the formal foster care system. These include the inability to challenge the allegations made against them, giving up the right to help with a family unification plan to get their children back after separation, losing the right to scheduled visits with their children and losing the right to a lawyer, and the right to confront evidence in court. If you do not understand something that you are asked to sign, request time to consult an attorney about the request before signing. No DCPP personnel should threaten to remove your child for failure to sign a safety and protection plan. If you have questions about your obligations under the investigation or require clarity about any information that you receive, you have the right to request a family team meeting with the caseworker, the case work supervisor, and any other individual that you feel comfortable supporting you during the meeting.

When DCPP is involved, you may encounter the following agency caseworkers: intake worker, special response worker (SPRU), investigative worker, caseworker, or a case work supervisor. The worker who makes first contact should notify you about the concerns that brought your family to the attention of the agency. They meet the family where they are and assess the safety of the children in the home. They should support you in getting any resources you may need and in maintaining physical custody or make efforts to assist with reuniting you with your child if the child was removed. Should you have any issues with a caseworker, you should reach out to the caseworker's supervisor.

How Does Domestic Violence Relate to Child Welfare?

You may be wondering why DCPP is involved when you are the one who was subjected to abuse at the hands of a partner or co-parent. DCPP may become involved if there is an allegation that you failed to protect your child from witnessing or experiencing the domestic violence and the child was harmed (emotionally, physically, and/or psychologically) as a result. Witnessing domestic violence alone is not abuse and/ or neglect, but if DCPP finds you created an environment where the child may be exposed to domestic violence or harm in the future there may be consequences to both parties to a domestic violence incidence. DCPP may also become involved due to homelessness resulting from separating from the perpetrator. In some cases, domestic violence survivors relied on perpetrators for financial support, and as a result, they lose substantial income and may become homeless. DCPP should support you in this transition. Homelessness alone is not a reason for DCPP to remove your child. There must be an imminent risk of physical, psychological, or emotional harm to the child. The agency is required to make reasonable efforts to avoid child welfare removals. Any needs or barriers experienced by a parent separating from an abuser that may affect

child safety should be communicated with the child welfare case worker to assess for supportive services.

What Will DCPP Do if They Become Involved?

If DCPP is involved, and you choose not to cooperate with the investigation, they can file a complaint against a parent to request that a judge enter an order for you to cooperate with an investigation or service plan. If the DCPP worker finds that there is harm to the child or an imminent (likely to happen soon) risk of harm to the child's psychological, physical, or emotional well-being, DCPP is permitted to remove the child without a warrant or court order. This is called a Dodd removal or emergency removal. However, the Division must request a court order within two days of the removal proving why the removal was justified in your case. You are entitled to an attorney to represent you during this process.

What Will Happen After the Investigation?

DCPP should provide you with a letter notifying you if the allegations of abuse and neglect were either (1) unfounded, (2) not established, (3) established, or (4) substantiated. The best result would be a finding of "unfounded," where the investigation shows there was no evidence that the child was abused and/or neglected. "Not established" shows there was no abuse and/or neglect, but there was some evidence found that indicates a risk of harm. The allegations can also be "established" if there was evidence of abuse and/or neglect, but not enough to warrant a "substantiated" finding that places the parent on a child abuse registry. The allegations will be "substantiated" if the agency finds that you abused or neglected a child to a degree that should subject you to lifetime child abuse registry checks. The consequences for a finding of abuse or neglect are substantial, affecting employment and future involvement with child welfare. As such, you have a right to an administrative appeal of "substantiated" and "established" findings of child abuse or neglect. Furthermore, you have a right to an attorney on

"substantiated" findings due to the child abuse registry requirements. The letter you receive from the agency stating the finding issued against you should also provide instructions that you must respond to the letter within 20 days to request an appeal of the finding that was entered. Please reach out to Legal Services of New Jersey if you would like advice regarding your encounters with DCPP and to learn more about your rights and obligations in an agency investigation.



8. Housing



hen dealing with domestic violence, safety should be your primary concern. There are different state and federal laws that may protect you.

NJ Safe Housing Act

If your abuser knows where you live, you may want to relocate for your protection. New Jersey allows you to end your lease early without penalty in these circumstances. The law that allows you to do this is called the New Jersey Safe Housing Act. The citation for this law is N.J.S.A. 46:8-9.4. This law allows victims of domestic violence to leave their current residence to avoid further abuse. Tenants may not waive their right to protection under the NJ Safe Housing Act in their lease, meaning that you cannot choose to give up this safety measure when negotiating a lease.

The victim-tenant must give written notice to their landlord, explaining that staying in the leased property would expose them or their child to an immediate threat of serious bodily harm from their abuser, even if that child is not the child of the abuser. The abuse did not have to happen at the leased property.

The victim-tenant must also provide supporting documentation in their written notice. Such supporting documentation can include the following:

- A final restraining order in New Jersey protecting the victim-tenant from the abuser named in the written notice;
- The equivalent of a final restraining order from another jurisdiction protecting the victim-tenant from the abuser named in the written notice;
- Law enforcement records documenting the domestic violence toward the victim-tenant and/or their child;
- Medical records documenting the domestic violence toward the victim-tenant and/or their child;
- A written certification from a certified domestic violence specialist or the director of a designated domestic violence agency that states the victim-tenant or the victim-tenant's child is a victim of domestic violence;
- Other documents or certifications from a licensed social worker that the victim-tenant or their child is a victim of domestic violence.

A temporary restraining order, on its own, is not enough. A temporary restraining order with other legitimate documentation may suffice. Anyone who prepares written records must state that they are qualified to prepare such records. Any written records should document the basis for the conclusion that domestic violence has occurred, such as if the preparer of the records met with the victim-tenant in person or reviewed any other materials. For example, if a doctor prepares a medical report, the doctor should describe in their report if they met with the victim in person and should also describe their medical qualifications.

Thirty days after the landlord receives the written notice and supporting documentation, the lease will end and the victim-tenant is no longer obligated to pay rent. The victim-tenant must keep current on their rent until the thirtieth day.

The landlord must return the victim-tenant's security deposit within fifteen days of the victim-tenant leaving. The landlord may keep some of the deposit if you have caused damage to the leased property or owe rent. If the landlord does keep some of the deposit, they must send you a written notice stating that and giving an itemized list of deductions from your deposit. If you want to challenge the landlord's decision to withhold some of your security deposit, you will have to file a lawsuit in small claims court.

Once a victim-tenant ends their lease under the NJ Safe Housing Act, the lease for any of their co-tenants also ends. The landlord may then sign a new lease with any or all of the remaining co-tenants, but the landlord is not legally obligated to offer a new lease to the remaining co-tenants. If the landlord does not sign a new lease with the remaining co-tenants, those co-tenants must leave, notwithstanding the provisions of the Anti-Eviction Act, N.J.S.A. 2A: 18-61.1.

The landlord may not reveal any information about the domestic violence to anyone. This information must be kept confidential under the NJ Safe Housing Act. Landlords may not share this information with tenant screening agencies or other databases that generate tenancy reports.

The New Jersey Safe Housing Act applies to all residential leases, except those that are for less than 125 days where the person has a permanent residence elsewhere. However, housing for seasonal or migrant farmworkers is covered. The landlord has the burden of showing that the lease agreement is not covered by the Act.

Even if you are not in the middle of a lease term, and are month to month, there are notice requirements for ending your tenancy. More information about ending your lease and getting your security back is available in the LSNJ Tenants' Rights in New Jersey Manual at https://lsnj.pub/TenantsRights.

Housing Protections Through VAWA

The Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) provides additional protections to applicants and participants of certain programs funded by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). Under VAWA, someone who has experienced domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking (collectively, "VAWA crimes") cannot be denied admission to a covered program, evicted, or have their assistance terminated for reasons related to the VAWA violence/abuse.

"Domestic violence" under VAWA also includes economic abuse and technological abuse. Economic abuse is when an abuser engages in behavior that unreasonably controls or restrains a victim's ability to get, use, or maintain economic resources they are entitled to have. Restricting a victim's access to their own credit cards is one example. Economic abuse also includes any actions on the part of an abuser to exploit power over a victim's economic decision-making, such as forcing a victim to default on financial obligations, taking advantage of powers of attorney or guardianship, or choosing not to act in the best interests of a person whose finances they manage. Technological abuse is when an abuser engages in activity meant to harm, threaten, intimidate, control, stalk, harass, impersonate, exploit, extort, or monitor another person illegally through the use of technology. Technological abuse can occur through websites, social media, cameras, apps, location-tracking devices, cell phones, computers, or any other emerging technology.

Covered housing programs under VAWA include, but are not limited to, public housing, Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers, Section 8 project-based housing, and the Low Income Housing Tax Credit Program. For a detailed list, visit https://www.hud.gov/vawa#close.

VAWA's housing protections do not extend to survivors living in private housing without a federal funding, which includes a Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Subsidy. However, even if a survivor is not participating in a covered housing program, fair housing laws, as well as state and local laws may provide other protections.

VAWA requires covered housing programs to notify you of your rights. You must receive a copy of "HUD's Notice of VAWA Housing Rights (Form HUD-5380) and HUD's VAWA Self-certification Form (Form HUD-5382)":

- If you are denied admission to a covered program;
- If you are admitted to covered housing provider or covered program;

- If you receive a notice of eviction from a covered provider; or
- If you receive a notice of termination from a covered program.

Note that you can self-certify that you are a victim of domestic violence.

Under VAWA, someone who has experienced domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and/or stalking (VAWA violence/ abuse):

- Should not be denied admission to or assistance under a HUD-subsidized or assisted unit or program because of the VAWA violence/ abuse committed against them.
- Should not be evicted from a HUD-subsidized unit nor have their assistance terminated because of the VAWA violence/abuse committed against them.
- Should not be denied admission, evicted, or have their assistance terminated for reasons related to the VAWA violence/abuse, such as having an eviction record, criminal history, or bad credit history.
- Has the option to stay in their HUD-subsidized housing, even if there
 has been criminal activity directly related to the VAWA violence/
 abuse.
- May request an emergency transfer from the housing provider for safety reasons related to the VAWA violence/abuse committed against them.
- Should be allowed to move with continued assistance, if the survivor has a Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher.
- Should be able to provide proof to the housing provider by self-certifying using the HUD VAWA Self-certification (Form HUD-5382), and not be required to provide more proof unless the housing provider has conflicting information about the violence/abuse.
- Has a right to strict confidentiality of information regarding their status as a survivor.

- May request a lease bifurcation (separation of the two tenants' leases) from the owner or landlord to remove the perpetrator from the lease or unit, and if the housing provider bifurcates, it must be done consistent with applicable federal, state, or local laws and the requirements of the HUD housing program.
- Cannot be coerced, intimated, threatened, or retaliated against by HUD-subsidized housing providers for seeking or exercising VAWA protections.
- Has the right to seek law enforcement or emergency assistance for themselves or others without being penalized by local laws or policies for these requests or because they were victims of criminal activity.

The protections that VAWA affords depend on the housing provider. For example, a victim in public housing can request an emergency transfer to another unit or building within the housing authority. If a victim is a tenant renting a single family home with Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher rent subsidy, the victim, even if not head of household, may relocate with the voucher to another area serviced by a different Section 8 office (the process is called porting).

If you are being denied, terminated, or evicted from affordable housing, or if you are having trouble securing any VAWA protections, seek legal assistance. Some programs have appeal procedures for application denials and subsidy terminations. In New Jersey, you have a right to a trial if you are being evicted. In addition, if a housing or subsidy provider covered by VAWA does not do what they are is supposed to do, you can file a complaint with HUD, https://www.hud.gov/ fairhousing/fileacomplaint. Housing law has many intricacies, so if you have additional questions about your housing rights, you can find more information in the LSNJ Tenants' Rights in New Jersey Handbook, located at https:// Isnj.pub/TenantsRights.



Conclusion

f your spouse, partner, or a family member has harmed you in the ways we have discussed in this handbook, you may wish to reach out to a domestic violence service provider for information and help in developing a plan to maximize your safety. There are service organizations that may be of help to you listed in the appendix of this handbook.

Also, to use the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act, you can see a lawyer to help you understand the law. You and your family have a right to safety. Do not hesitate to use the criminal and civil laws to protect yourself. For more legal information, call Legal Services of New Jersey's Domestic Violence Representation Project at 1-888-576-5529.

Appendix

Other Resources

The New Jersey Coalition to End Domestic Violence maintains an up-to-date listing of domestic violence services throughout the state. It is searchable by county. **Website: www.NJCEDV.org**

New Jersey Coalition to End Domestic Violence Hotline (800) 572-SAFE (7233)

> NJ Coalition Against Sexual Assault Hotline (800) 601-7200

24-Hour Statewide Hotlines

New Jersey Hopeline 988

Women's Referral Central Hotline (800) 322-8092

Family Helpline (800) THE-KIDS (843-5437) Addictions Hotline of NJ (800) 238-2333

Additional Helpline Numbers are listed on the New Jersey Department of Children and Families website at www.nj.gov/dcf/families/hotlines

WALLET CARD

Cut out the wallet card below and put it in your wallet so you'll always have these important telephone numbers handy.





Legal Services of New Jersey 100 Metroplex Drive, Suite 101 P.O. Box 357 Edison, NJ 08818-1357 732-572-9100 LSNJLAWSM statewide toll-free legal Hotline: Isnjlawhotline.org 1-888-LSNJ-LAW (1-888-576-5529)

